

No. 234, 1992

Compilation No. 25

Compilation date: 26 May 2015

Includes amendments up to: Act No. 51, 2015

Registered: 29 May 2015

Prepared by the Office of Parliamentary Counsel, Canberra

About this compilation

This compilation

This is a compilation of the *Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act* 1992 that shows the text of the law as amended and in force on 26 May 2015 (the *compilation date*).

This compilation was prepared on 26 May 2015.

The notes at the end of this compilation (the *endnotes*) include information about amending laws and the amendment history of provisions of the compiled law.

Uncommenced amendments

The effect of uncommenced amendments is not shown in the text of the compiled law. Any uncommenced amendments affecting the law are accessible on ComLaw (www.comlaw.gov.au). The details of amendments made up to, but not commenced at, the compilation date are underlined in the endnotes. For more information on any uncommenced amendments, see the series page on ComLaw for the compiled law.

Application, saving and transitional provisions for provisions and amendments

If the operation of a provision or amendment of the compiled law is affected by an application, saving or transitional provision that is not included in this compilation, details are included in the endnotes.

Modifications

If the compiled law is modified by another law, the compiled law operates as modified but the modification does not amend the text of the law. Accordingly, this compilation does not show the text of the compiled law as modified. For more information on any modifications, see the series page on ComLaw for the compiled law.

Self-repealing provisions

If a provision of the compiled law has been repealed in accordance with a provision of the law, details are included in the endnotes.

ComLaw Authoritative Act C2015C00246

Contents

t 1—Preli	imina	ry	1
Division 1	—Sho	ort title and commencement	1
	1	Short title	1
	2	Commencement	1
Division 2	—Def	initions	2
	3	General definitions	2
	3A	Declarations that a ship is or is not a prescribed ship	12
	4	Employees	12
	5	Employees lost at sea	13
	6	Injuries suffered by employees	14
	7	Injuries etc. resulting from medical treatment	14
	8	Incapacity for work	14
	9	Injury arising out of, or in the course of, employment	15
	10	Provisions relating to diseases	17
	11	Hearing impairment—time when suffered	19
	12	Serious and wilful misconduct	19
	13	Normal weekly earnings	20
	14	Recovery of damages	21
	15	Persons who are wholly or partly dependent	21
	16	Certain family relationships	22
	17	Persons caring for prescribed children	22
Division 3	—Mis	scellaneous preliminary provisions	24
	18	Extent of Act	24
	19	Application of Act	24
	19A	Extended application of Act for trainees etc.	25
	20	Act not to apply to employees within the meaning of the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988	26
	20A	Act not to apply to exempt employment	
	21	Act binds Crown etc.	
	21A	Application of Criminal Code	
	22	Amounts of compensation	
	23	Indexation—Consumer Price Index	
	23A	Indexation—Wage Price Index	
	24	Liability to pay compensation	
	25	Compensation to be paid in full	
		*	

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

ι

Compilation No. 25

Compilation date: 26/5/15

Registered: 29/5/15

Part 2—Compens	ation	32
Division 1—In	juries, property loss or damage, medical expenses	32
26	Compensation for injuries	32
27	Compensation for property loss or damage	32
28	Compensation for medical and related expenses	33
Division 2—In	juries resulting in death	37
29	Compensation for injuries resulting in death	37
30	Compensation in respect of funeral expenses	39
Division 3—In	juries resulting in incapacity for work	40
31	Compensation for injuries resulting in incapacity	40
32	Determination of suitable employment	43
33	Compensation for injuries resulting in incapacity where employee is in receipt of a superannuation pension	44
34	Compensation for injuries resulting in incapacity where employee is in receipt of a lump sum benefit	45
35	Compensation for injuries resulting in incapacity where employee rolled-over part of a lump sum benefit	47
36	Compensation for injuries resulting in incapacity where the employee rolled-over the whole of a lump sum benefit	48
37	Compensation where employee is maintained in a hospital	49
38	Compensation for incapacity not payable in certain cases	50
Division 4—Inj	juries resulting in permanent impairment	51
39	Compensation for injuries resulting in permanent impairment	51
40	Interim payment of compensation	52
41	Compensation for non-economic loss	53
42	Approved Guide	53
Division 5—Ho	ousehold and attendant care services	56
43	Compensation for household services and attendant care	
	services	56
Division 6—Mi	iscellaneous	59
44	Redemption of compensation	59
45	Recurrent payments after payment of lump sum	60
46	Cancelled determinations not to affect certain payments of compensation	60
47	Reduction of compensation in certain cases	61
Part 3—Rehabilit	ation	62
48	Approved rehabilitation program providers	

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

ii

4	19	Assessment of capability of undertaking rehabilitation	
		program	
	50	Provision of rehabilitation programs	
5	51	Compensation payable in respect of certain alterations etc	
5	52	Duty to provide suitable employment	69
Part 4—Liabil	ities a	rising apart from this Act	70
5	53	Interpretation	70
5	54	Employee not to have right to bring action for damages against employer etc. in certain cases	70
5	55	Actions for damages—election by employees	
	56	Notice of proceedings against third party	
-	57	Notice of proceedings against unit party	
	58	Compensation not payable if damages recovered	
	90 59	Proceedings against third parties	
-	59 50	2 2 1	
		Payment of damages by persons to employer	
C	51	Compensation not payable both under Act and under award	80
Part 5—Notice	es and		82
6	52	Notice of injury or loss of, or damage to, property	
6	53	Claims for compensation	83
6	54	Survival of claims	84
6	55	Claims may not be made in certain cases	84
6	66	Power to require medical examination	84
6	57	Power to request the provision of information relevant to claim	86
6	68	Certain documents to be supplied on request	
	59	Neither section 67 nor 68 to affect legal professional privilege	
7	70	Legal professional privilege not to apply to medical reports	
	71	Bankruptcy etc. of actual employer	
7	72	Time limit for determining claims relating to death	
7	73	Time limit for determining claims relating to incapacity for	
,		work, loss of or damage to property or cost of medical treatment	90
7	73A	Time limit for determining claims relating to permanent impairment	
7	74	Employer may seek review of Authority's decision	
	75	Sections 72 to 74 (inclusive) not to apply to Authority if)2
,	5	declaration made under section 100	92

iii

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

Part 6—Reco	onside	ration of determinations and review of	
decis	sions l	by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal	93
Division 1	—Def	initions	93
	76	Interpretation	93
Division 2	2—Rec	consideration of determinations by employers	94
21,101011	77	Determinations to be notified in writing	_
	78	Reconsiderations of determinations	
	79	Time limit for reconsideration of determinations	
	80	Employer may seek review of Authority's decision	
	81	Sections 79 and 80 not to apply to Authority if declaration made under section 100	
	82	Industry panel or Comcare to give copy of report to employer to claimant	97
	83	Power to request the provision of information relevant to reconsideration	97
	83A	Power to request employee to undergo medical examination	98
	84	Section 83 not to affect legal professional privilege	
	85	Legal professional privilege not to apply to medical reports	
	86	Bankruptcy etc. of employer	
	87	Reviewable decision to be notified in writing	101
	88	Applications to the AAT	102
Division 3	AA	T review of reviewable decisions and extension of	
	tim	e decisions	103
	89	Modified AAT Act to apply	103
	90	Evidence in proceedings before AAT	
	91	Costs of proceedings before AAT—general	105
	92	Costs of proceedings before AAT—when costs payable by employer	107
Part 7—Com	pulso	ry insurance and the Fund	110
Division 1	l—Coı	mpulsory insurance	110
	93	Compulsory insurance	110
	94	Employer to give details of insurance or indemnity arrangements to Authority	
	95	Authority may require evidence from employer	111
Division 2	2—The	e Fund	112
	96	The Fund	112
	97	Fund to insure	112

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

iv

	98	Fund to provide Authority with financial information	113
	99	Minister may revoke approval under section 96	113
Division 3	3—Res	serve function of Authority	114
	100	Ministerial declaration	114
	101	Effect of Ministerial declaration	114
	102	Authority to insure if declaration made under section 100	114
Part 8—Adn	ninistr	ration	115
Division	1—Sea	farers Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation	
		thority	115
	103	Establishment	115
	104	Functions	115
	105	Powers	116
	106	Power to obtain information	116
	107	Directions by Minister	117
Division 2	2—Cor	nstitution and meetings of Authority	118
	109	Constitution	118
	110	Appointment of members	118
	111	Term of office	118
	112	Deputies of members	119
	113	Persons acting as Chairperson or Deputy Chairperson	120
	114	Remuneration and allowances	120
	115	Leave of absence	120
	116	Disclosure of interests	121
	117	Resignation	121
	118	Termination of appointment	121
	119	Meetings	122
Division 4	4—Mis	scellaneous	124
	125	Delegation by Authority and sub-delegation	124
Part 9—Mis	cellane	eous	125
	126	Employee to give information about prior employers	
	127	Determinations to be in writing	
	128	Shared liability	
	129	Subrogation of rights of actual employer to Fund	
	130	Payment of compensation	
	131	Employee to notify other employers that compensation has	
		been paid	
	132	Recovery of compensation payments	128

 ν

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

	133	Money paid for benefit of person	128
	134	Provisions applicable on death of beneficiary	129
	135	Assignment, set-off or attachment of compensation	129
	136	Recovery of overpayments	130
	137	Employees on compensation leave	130
	139	Compensation where State compensation payable	131
	139A	Exclusion of State laws relating to workers' compensation	133
	140	Notice of departure from Australia etc.	133
	141	Comcare may charge for officer's services provided to	
		employer	134
	143	Regulations	134
Endnotes			135
Endnote 1	1—Abo	out the endnotes	135
Endnote 2	Endnote 2—Abbreviation key		
Endnote 3—Legislation history			137
Endnote 4—Amendment history			142

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

vi

An Act relating to rehabilitation and workers' compensation for seafarers and certain other persons, and for related purposes

Part 1—Preliminary

Division 1—Short title and commencement

1 Short title

This Act may be cited as the *Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992*.

2 Commencement

- (1) Sections 1, 2 and 3 and Part 8 commence on the day on which this Act receives the Royal Assent.
- (2) Subject to subsection (3), the remaining provisions of this Act commence on a day or days to be fixed by Proclamation.
- (3) If a provision referred to in subsection (2) does not commence within the period of 6 months beginning on the day on which this Act receives the Royal Assent, it commences on the first day after the end of that period.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

1

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

Division 2—Definitions

3 General definitions

In this Act, unless the contrary intention appears:

AAT means the Administrative Appeals Tribunal.

adoption means adoption under a law of a State or Territory or of a foreign country.

aggravation includes acceleration or recurrence.

ailment means any physical or mental ailment, disorder, defect or morbid condition (whether of sudden onset or gradual development).

appointed member means a member referred to in paragraph 109(a), (b), (c) or (d).

approved Guide means:

- (a) the document, prepared by the Authority in accordance with section 42 under the title 'Guide to the Assessment of the Degree of Permanent Impairment', that has been approved by the Minister and is for the time being in force; and
- (b) if an instrument varying the document has been approved by the Minister—that document as so varied.

approved industry training course means an industry training course approved in writing by the Authority for the purposes of this definition.

approved program provider has the meaning given by section 48.

attendant care services, in relation to an employee, means services (other than household services, medical or surgical services or nursing care) required for the essential and regular personal care of the employee.

2

Australian General Shipping Register has the same meaning as in the Shipping Registration Act 1981.

Australian International Shipping Register has the same meaning as in the Shipping Registration Act 1981.

Australian Maritime Safety Authority means the Australian Maritime Safety Authority established by the Australian Maritime Safety Authority Act 1990.

authorised insurer means a general insurer or Lloyd's underwriter under the *Insurance Act 1973* or an insurer that carries on State insurance (whether or not the State insurance extends beyond the limits of the State concerned).

Authority means the Seafarers Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Authority established by section 103.

Chairperson means the Chairperson of the Authority.

child: without limiting who is a child of a person for the purposes of this Act, someone is the *child* of a person if he or she is a child of the person within the meaning of the *Family Law Act 1975*.

claim means a claim under Part 5.

claimant, in relation to a time after the death of a claimant, means the claimant's legal personal representative.

coastal trading has the same meaning as in the Coastal Trading (Revitalising Australian Shipping) Act 2012.

Comcare has the same meaning as in the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988.

Comcare officer means a person referred to in subsection 88(1) of the *Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988*.

company trainee means a person (other than an industry trainee) who:

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

3

Compilation No. 25

Registered: 29/5/15

- (a) although ordinarily employed or engaged as a seafarer, is not so employed or engaged but is undergoing a training course as required by his or her employer; or
- (b) is undergoing a training course as required by his or her employer before becoming a seafarer.

compensation leave means any period during which an employee is absent from his or her employment due to an incapacity for work resulting from an injury in respect of which compensation is payable under section 31 or 37.

damages includes any amount paid under a compromise or settlement of a claim for damages, whether or not legal proceedings have been instituted, but does not include an amount paid in respect of costs incurred in connection with legal proceedings.

de facto partner of a person has the meaning given by the *Acts Interpretation Act 1901*.

default event, in relation to an employer, happens when:

- (a) the employer:
 - (i) becomes bankrupt or insolvent; or
 - (ii) applies to take the benefit of any law for the relief of insolvents; or
 - (iii) compounds with the employer's creditors for their benefit; or
 - (iv) if the employer is a body corporate—is being wound-up; or
 - (v) if the employer is a body corporate—ceases to exist; or
 - (vi) no longer engages in trade or commerce in Australia;
- (b) the employer is unable to meet the employer's liabilities under this Act.

dependant, in relation to a deceased employee, means a person:

(a) who is the spouse of the employee; or

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

- (b) who is the parent, step-parent, father-in-law, mother-in-law, grandparent, child, stepchild, grandchild, sibling or half-sibling of the employee; or
- (c) in relation to whom the employee stood in the position of a parent or who stood in the position of a parent to the employee;

being a person who was wholly or partly dependent on the employee at the date of the employee's death.

Note: see also section 16.

dependent means dependent for economic support.

disease means:

- (a) any ailment suffered by an employee; or
- (b) the aggravation of any such ailment; being an ailment or an aggravation that was contributed to in a material degree by the employee's employment.

emergency licence has the same meaning as in the *Coastal Trading* (*Revitalising Australian Shipping*) Act 2012.

employee has the meaning given in section 4.

financial corporation means a financial corporation within the meaning of paragraph 51(xx) of the Constitution.

foreign corporation means a foreign corporation within the meaning of paragraph 51(xx) of the Constitution and includes a body that is incorporated in an external Territory.

Fund has the meaning given in section 96.

general licence has the same meaning as in the *Coastal Trading* (Revitalising Australian Shipping) Act 2012.

Government ship means a ship:

- (a) that belongs to the Commonwealth or a State or Territory; or
- (b) the beneficial interest in which is vested in the Commonwealth or a State or Territory; or

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

5

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

(c) that is for the time being demised or sub-demised to, or in the exclusive possession of, the Commonwealth or a State or Territory;

and includes a ship that belongs to an arm of the Defence Force, but does not include a ship:

- (d) that belongs to a trading corporation that is an authority or agency of the Commonwealth or of a State or a Territory; or
- (e) the beneficial interest in which is vested in such a trading corporation; or
- (f) that is for the time being demised or sub-demised to, or in the exclusive possession of, such a trading corporation; or
- (g) that is operated by seafarers supplied (directly or indirectly) by a corporation under a contract with the Commonwealth or a State or Territory.

household services, in relation to an employee, means services of a domestic nature (including cooking, house cleaning, laundry and gardening services) required for the proper running and maintenance of the employee's household.

impairment means the loss, the loss of the use, or the damage or malfunction, of any part of the body or of the whole or part of any bodily system or function.

individual industrial agreement means an industrial agreement that applies to only one employee.

industrial instrument:

- (a) includes an industrial award, determination or agreement; but
- (b) does not include an individual industrial agreement.

industry trainee means a person (other than a company trainee) who:

- (a) although ordinarily employed or engaged as a seafarer, is not so employed or engaged but is undergoing an approved industry training course; or
- (b) is undergoing an approved industry training course before becoming a seafarer.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

6

injury means:

- (a) a disease; or
- (b) an injury (other than a disease) suffered by an employee, being a physical or mental injury arising out of, or in the course of, the employee's employment; or
- (c) an aggravation of a physical or mental injury (other than a disease) suffered by an employee (whether or not that injury arose out of, or in the course of, the employee's employment), being an aggravation that arose out of, or in the course of, that employment;

but does not include anything suffered by an employee as a result of reasonable disciplinary action taken against the employee, or failure by the employee to obtain a promotion, transfer or benefit in connection with his or her employment.

journey, in relation to a journey to which subsection 28(6), 49(6A), 50(2A), 66(4) or 83A(3) applies, includes part of that journey.

loss, in relation to property used by an employee, includes destruction.

medical treatment means:

- (a) medical or surgical treatment by, or under the supervision of, a legally qualified medical practitioner; or
- (b) therapeutic treatment obtained at the direction of a legally qualified medical practitioner; or
- (c) dental treatment by, or under the supervision of, a legally qualified dentist; or
- (d) therapeutic treatment by, or under the supervision of, a physiotherapist, osteopath, masseur or chiropractor registered as such under the law of a State or Territory; or
- (e) an examination, test or analysis carried out at the request or direction of a legally qualified medical practitioner or dentist, and the provision of a report in respect of it; or
- (f) the supply, replacement or repair of an artificial limb or other artificial substitute or of a medical, surgical or other similar aid or appliance; or

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

7

- (g) treatment and maintenance as a patient at a hospital; or
- (h) nursing care, and the provision of medicines, medical and surgical supplies and curative apparatus, whether in a hospital or not.

member means a member of the Authority.

National Employment Standards has the same meaning as in the *Fair Work Act 2009*.

non-economic loss, in relation to an employee who has suffered an injury resulting in a permanent impairment, means loss or damage of a non-economic kind suffered by the employee (including pain and suffering, a loss of expectation of life or a loss of the amenities or enjoyment of life) as a result of that injury or impairment and of which the employee is aware.

normal weekly earnings means the normal weekly earnings of an employee worked out under section 13.

parent: without limiting who is a parent of a person for the purposes of this Act, someone is the **parent** of a person if the person is his or her child because of the definition of **child** in this section.

permanent means likely to continue indefinitely.

place of residence, in relation to an employee, means:

- (a) the place in Australia where the employee normally resides; or
- (b) a place in Australia, other than the place mentioned in paragraph (a), where the employee resides temporarily, as a matter of necessity or convenience, for the purposes of his or her employment; or
- (c) any other place in Australia where the employee stays, or intends to stay, overnight, if a journey to it from the employee's place of work does not substantially increase the risk of sustaining an injury when compared with the journey

from his or her place of work to the place referred to in paragraph (a) or (b).

place of work, in relation to an employee, means any place at which the employee is required to attend for the purpose of carrying out the duties of his or her employment and:

- (a) if the employee is a seafarer—includes the prescribed ship on which the seafarer is employed or engaged; and
- (b) if the employee is a trainee—includes a ship on which the trainee is required to train as part of an approved industry training course.

prescribed child means:

- (a) a person under 16; or
- (b) a person who:
 - (i) is 16 or over but under 25; and
 - (ii) is receiving full-time education at a school, college, university or other educational institution; and
 - (iii) is not ordinarily in employment or engaged in work on his or her own account.

prescribed person, in relation to an employee, means:

- (a) the spouse of the employee; or
- (b) any of the following who is 16 or over:
 - (i) the parent, step-parent, father-in-law, mother-in-law, grandparent, child, stepchild, grandchild, sibling or half-sibling of the employee;
 - (ii) a person in relation to whom the employee stands in the position of a parent or who stands in the position of a parent to the employee;
 - (iii) a person (other than the spouse of the employee or a person referred to in subparagraph (i) or (ii)) who is wholly or mainly dependent on the employee and has the care of a prescribed child who is wholly or mainly dependent on the employee.

Note: see also sections 16 and 17.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

9

prescribed ship means a ship that:

- (a) is either:
 - (i) a ship to which Part II of the *Navigation Act 1912* would apply if that Act had not been repealed; or
 - (ii) a ship that is declared under subsection 3A(1) to be a prescribed ship; and
- (b) is neither a Government ship nor a ship declared under subsection 3A(2) not to be a prescribed ship.

property used by an employee means an artificial limb or other artificial substitute, or a medical, surgical or other similar aid or appliance, used by the employee.

rehabilitation program includes medical, dental, psychiatric and hospital services (whether on an in-patient or out-patient basis), physical training and exercise, physiotherapy, occupational therapy and vocational training.

seafarer means a seafarer, as defined in the *Navigation Act 2012*, who is employed in any capacity on a prescribed ship, on the business of the ship.

seafarer berth means a berth on a prescribed ship that is normally used by a seafarer to whose employment this Act applies.

Note: Section 19 deals with the application of this Act.

spouse includes:

- (a) in relation to an employee or a deceased employee—a person who is, or immediately before the employee's death was, a de facto partner of the employee; and
- (b) in relation to an employee or a deceased employee who is or was a member of the Aboriginal race of Australia or a descendant of indigenous inhabitants of the Torres Strait Islands—a person who is or was recognised as the employee's husband or wife by the custom prevailing in the tribe or group to which the employee belongs or belonged.

stepchild: without limiting who is a stepchild of a person for the purposes of this Act, someone who is a child of a de facto partner

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

10

of the person is the *stepchild* of the person if he or she would be the person's stepchild except that the person is not legally married to the partner.

step-parent: without limiting who is a step-parent of a person for the purposes of this Act, someone who is a de facto partner of a parent of the person is the **step-parent** of the person if he or she would be the person's step-parent except that he or she is not legally married to the person's parent.

suitable employment, in relation to an employee who has suffered an injury in respect of which compensation is payable under this Act, means any employment (including self-employment) for which the employee is suited having regard to:

- (a) the employee's age, experience, training, language and other skills; and
- (b) the employee's suitability for rehabilitation or vocational retraining; and
- (c) if employment is available in a place that would require the employee to change his or her place of residence—whether it is reasonable to expect the employee to change his or her place of residence; and
- (d) any other relevant matter.

superannuation amount, in relation to a pension received by an employee in respect of a week, or a lump sum benefit received by an employee, being a pension or benefit under a superannuation scheme, means an amount equal to:

- (a) if the scheme identifies a part of the pension or lump sum as attributable to the contributions made under the scheme by the employee's employer or any former employer—the amount of that part; or
- (b) in any other case—the amount assessed by the person administering the superannuation scheme to be the part of the pension or lump sum that is so attributable.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

11

Registered: 29/5/15

superannuation scheme means any superannuation scheme or superannuation fund under which an employer makes contributions on behalf of his or her employees.

therapeutic treatment includes:

- (a) an examination, test or analysis done for the purpose of diagnosing an injury; and
- (b) treatment given for the purpose of alleviating an injury.

trading corporation means a trading corporation within the meaning of paragraph 51(xx) of the Constitution.

trainee means:

- (a) a company trainee; or
- (b) an industry trainee.

3A Declarations that a ship is or is not a prescribed ship

- (1) The Minister may by legislative instrument declare a ship to be a prescribed ship.
- (2) The Minister may by legislative instrument declare a ship not to be a prescribed ship.

4 Employees

(1) In this Act, unless the contrary intention appears:

employee means:

- (a) a seafarer; or
- (b) a trainee; or
- (c) a person (other than a trainee) who, although ordinarily employed or engaged as a seafarer, is not so employed or engaged but is required under an award to attend at a Seafarers Engagement Centre for the purpose of registering availability for employment or engagement on a prescribed ship.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

12

- (2) For the purposes of this Act, an industry trainee or a person mentioned in paragraph (c) of the definition of *employee* is taken to be employed by the Fund until he or she next becomes a seafarer, and his or her employment is taken to be constituted by his or her attendance:
 - (a) in the case of an industry trainee—at an approved industry training course; and
 - (b) in the case of a person mentioned in paragraph (c) of the definition of *employee*—at a Seafarers Engagement Centre for the purpose of registering availability for employment or engagement on a prescribed ship.
- (3) If a default event occurs in relation to the employer of a seafarer or of a company trainee, then, for the purposes of this Act, the seafarer or company trainee is taken to be employed by the Fund.
- (4) If a provision of this Act applies to an employee after an employer has incurred a liability in relation to the employee under this Act, then, unless the contrary intention appears, a reference in that provision to an employee includes a reference to that person even after he or she ceases to be an employee.
- (5) To avoid doubt, a reference in this Act to the employment of an employee is a reference to:
 - (a) if the employee is a trainee—the employee's performance of the role of a trainee; or
 - (b) if the employee is a person of a kind referred to in paragraph (1)(c)—the employee's performance of the role of a person of that kind.

5 Employees lost at sea

- (1) In a claim for compensation under section 29, if it is established that a prescribed ship has not been heard of for at least 3 months, the ship is taken to have been lost with all on board immediately after the ship was last heard of.
- (2) A copy of:

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

13

- (a) an agreement; or
- (b) a list of the employees on a prescribed ship; or
- (c) another document showing changes in the employees on a prescribed ship;

which has been prepared for a legal purpose is, in the absence of proof to the contrary, sufficient proof that the employees named in the document were on board the prescribed ship at the time of the loss.

6 Injuries suffered by employees

A reference in this Act to an injury suffered by an employee is, unless the contrary intention appears, a reference to an injury suffered by the employee for which compensation is payable under this Act.

7 Injuries etc. resulting from medical treatment

For the purposes of this Act, an injury or ailment suffered by an employee as a result of medical treatment of an injury is taken to be an injury if, but only if:

- (a) compensation is payable under this Act for the injury that was treated; and
- (b) it was reasonable for the employee to have obtained that treatment in the circumstances.

8 Incapacity for work

A reference in this Act to an incapacity for work is a reference to an incapacity suffered by an employee as a result of an injury, being:

- (a) an incapacity to engage in any work; or
- (b) an incapacity to engage in work as an employee at the same rank or level at which he or she was engaged immediately before the injury happened.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

14

9 Injury arising out of, or in the course of, employment

- (1) This section does not limit the circumstances in which an injury to an employee may be treated as having arisen out of, or in the course of, his or her employment.
- (2) An injury is also to be treated as having so arisen, for the purposes of this Act, if it happened:
 - (a) as a result of an act of violence that would not have occurred apart from the employment, or the performance by the employee of the duties or functions of his or her employment; or
 - (b) if the employee is a seafarer:
 - (i) while the employee was on board the prescribed ship on which he or she was employed or engaged; or
 - (ii) while the employee was temporarily absent from that ship during an ordinary recess in that employment and not at his or her place of residence; or
 - (c) if the employee is a trainee—while the trainee was undergoing a required course of training, or was in any other place (other than his or her place of residence) during an ordinary recess in that course of training; or
 - (d) if the employee is a person mentioned in paragraph (c) of the definition of *employee* in subsection 4(1)—while the employee was attending at a Seafarers Engagement Centre for the purpose of registering availability for employment or engagement on a prescribed ship; or
 - (e) while the employee:
 - (i) was travelling between his or her place of residence and place of work; or
 - (ii) was travelling between his or her place of residence and a place where he or she resides temporarily, as a matter of necessity or convenience for the purposes of his or her employment; or
 - (iii) was travelling between his or her place of residence and a Seafarers Engagement Centre for the purpose of

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

15

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

- registering availability for employment or engagement on a prescribed ship; or
- (iv) was travelling between one of his or her places of work and another of his or her places of work; or
- (v) was travelling between his or her place of work or place of residence and a place where a required course of training was being conducted; or
- (vi) was travelling between his or her place of work or place of residence and any other place for the purpose of:
 - (A) obtaining a medical certificate for the purposes of this Act; or
 - (B) receiving medical treatment for an injury; or
 - (C) undergoing a rehabilitation program provided under this Act; or
 - (D) receiving a payment of compensation under this Act; or
 - (E) undergoing a medical examination or rehabilitation assessment in accordance with a requirement made under this Act; or
 - (F) receiving money due under the terms of his or her employment, being money that, under the terms of that employment or any agreement or arrangement between the employee and his or her employer, was available, or reasonably expected by the employee to be available, for collection at that place; or
- (vii) was at a place for a purpose referred to in subparagraph (vi).
- (2A) For the purposes of this section:
 - (a) a journey from a place of residence is taken to start at the boundary of the land where the place of residence is situated; and
 - (b) a journey to a place of residence is taken to end at that boundary.

Compilation No. 25

16

- (2B) If an employee owns or occupies a parcel of land contiguous with the land on which the employee's residence is situated, the boundary referred to in subsection (2A) is the external boundary of all of the contiguous parcels of land if treated as a single parcel.
 - (3) Subparagraph (2)(e)(i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v) or (vi) does not apply if the travel:
 - (a) was by a route that substantially increased the risk of sustaining an injury when compared with a more direct route; or
 - (b) was interrupted in a way that substantially increased the risk of sustaining an injury.
 - (4) Subsection (2) does not apply if an employee is injured:
 - (a) while at a place referred to in that subsection; or
 - (b) during an ordinary recess in his or her employment; because he or she voluntarily and unreasonably submitted to an abnormal risk of injury.
 - (5) In this section:

required course of training means:

- (a) in relation to a company trainee—a training course that the trainee was required by the employer to undergo; or
- (b) in relation to an industry trainee—an approved industry training course.

10 Provisions relating to diseases

- (1) If:
 - (a) an employee has suffered, or is suffering, from a disease, or the death of an employee results from a disease; and
 - (b) the disease is of a kind specified by the Minister, by legislative instrument, as a disease related to employment of a kind specified in the instrument; and
 - (c) the employee was, at any time before symptoms of the disease first became apparent, engaged in employment of that kind in the maritime industry;

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

17

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15

the employment in which the employee was so engaged is taken, for the purposes of this Act, to have contributed in a material degree to the contraction of the disease, unless the contrary is established.

- (2) For the purposes of this Act, if an employee contracts a disease, any employment in the maritime industry in which he or she was engaged at any time before symptoms of the disease first became apparent is taken, unless the contrary is established, to have contributed in a material degree to the contraction of the disease if the incidence of the disease among people who have engaged in such employment is significantly greater than it is among people who have engaged in other employment.
- (3) For the purposes of this Act, if an employee suffers an aggravation of a disease, any employment in the maritime industry in which he or she was engaged at any time before symptoms of the aggravation first became apparent is taken, unless the contrary is established, to have contributed in a material degree to the aggravation if the incidence of the aggravation of the disease among people suffering from it who have engaged in such employment is significantly greater than it is among people suffering from the disease who have engaged in other employment.

(4) If:

- (a) an employee suffers an injury (other than one resulting in a hearing impairment); and
- (b) the injury is a disease or an aggravation of a disease; the employee is taken, for the purposes of this Act, to have suffered the injury on the day when:
 - (c) the employee first sought medical treatment for the disease or aggravation; or
 - (d) the disease or aggravation resulted in the death of the employee or first resulted in his or her impairment or incapacity for work;

whichever happens first.

- (5) For the purposes of this Act, the death of an employee is taken to have resulted from a disease, or an aggravation of a disease, if, apart from that disease or aggravation, as the case may be, the death of the employee would have happened at a significantly later time.
- (6) For the purposes of this Act, an incapacity for work, or an impairment, of an employee is taken to have resulted from a disease, or an aggravation of a disease, if, apart from that disease or aggravation, as the case may be:
 - (a) the incapacity or impairment would not have occurred; or
 - (b) the incapacity would have started, or the impairment would have happened, at a significantly later time; or
 - (c) the extent of the incapacity or impairment would have been significantly less.
- (7) For the purposes of this Act, a disease suffered by an employee, or an aggravation of such a disease, is not taken to be an injury to the employee if the employee has at any time, for purposes connected with his or her employment or proposed employment in the maritime industry, made a wilful and false representation that he or she did not suffer, or had not previously suffered, from that disease.

11 Hearing impairment—time when suffered

If an employee suffers a hearing impairment as a result of an injury, the employee is taken, for the purposes of this Act, to suffer the injury on the day on which the employee gives a notice of the injury under section 62.

12 Serious and wilful misconduct

For the purposes of this Act, an employee who is under the influence of alcohol or a drug (other than a drug prescribed for the employee by a legally qualified medical practitioner or dentist and used by the employee in accordance with that prescription) is taken to have engaged in serious and wilful misconduct.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

19

Compilation No. 25

Compilation date: 26/5/15

Registered: 29/5/15

13 Normal weekly earnings

- (1) For the purposes of this Act, if an employee who is a seafarer suffers an injury, the employee's normal weekly earnings are an amount equal to the amount payable weekly to the employee by way of salary under the contract of employment that applied to his or her employment immediately before the injury happened.
- (2) For the purposes of this Act, if an employee who is a trainee suffers an injury, the employee's normal weekly earnings are an amount equal to the amount that would have been payable weekly to the employee by way of salary under the industrial instrument or National Employment Standards that, apart from the injury, would have applied to his or her employment immediately after the completion of the training course.
- (3) For the purposes of this Act, if an employee who is attending a Seafarers Engagement Centre suffers an injury, the employee's normal weekly earnings are an amount equal to the amount specified in an industrial instrument for the purposes of this subsection.
- (4) For the purposes of this Act, if an employee (other than an employee to whom subsection (1), (2) or (3) applies) suffers an injury, the employee's normal weekly earnings are an amount equal to the amount that was payable weekly to the employee by way of salary under the contract of employment that applied to his or her employment immediately before the injury happened.
- (5) If the amount per week payable to an employee in respect of his or her employment before the injury is increased, or would have been increased, because of the operation of an industrial instrument, the National Employment Standards or a contract of employment if the employee had continued in that employment, because the employee:
 - (a) reaches a particular age; or
 - (b) completes a particular period of service; or
 - (c) receives an increase in salary, by way of an increment in a range of salary that applies to the employee;

20

the normal weekly earnings of the employee before the injury, as worked out under the preceding subsections, must be increased by the same percentage as that by which that amount per week is increased or would have been increased, as the case may be.

- (6) If the amount per week payable to employees in a class to which the employee belonged when the injury happened is later increased or reduced as a result of:
 - (a) the operation of a law of the Commonwealth, or of a State or Territory; or
 - (b) the making, alteration or operation of an industrial instrument or the National Employment Standards, or the doing of any other act or thing under such a law;

the normal weekly earnings of the employee before the injury, as worked out under the preceding subsections, must be increased or reduced by the same percentage as that by which that amount per week was so increased or reduced, as the case may be.

14 Recovery of damages

For the purposes of this Act, damages are taken to have been recovered by an employee, or by or for the benefit of a dependant of a deceased employee, when the amount of the damages was paid to, or for the benefit of, the employee or dependant, as the case may be.

15 Persons who are wholly or partly dependent

- (1) For the purposes of this Act, a person is taken to have been wholly or partly dependent on an employee at the date of the employee's death if the person would have been so dependent apart from an incapacity of the employee that resulted from an injury.
- (2) For the purposes of this Act, a person who, immediately before the date of an employee's death, lived with the employee and was:
 - (a) the employee's spouse; or
 - (b) a prescribed child of the employee;

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

21

is taken to be a person who was wholly dependent on the employee at that date.

- (3) For the purposes of this Act, other than subsection 29(5), a child of a deceased employee who was born alive after the employee's death must be treated as if he or she had been born immediately before the employee's death and was wholly dependent on the employee at the date of the employee's death.
- (4) In determining, for the purposes of this Act, whether a child is or was dependent on an employee, the following are not to be taken into account:
 - (a) family tax benefit calculated under Part 2 or 3 of Schedule 1 to the *A New Tax System (Family Assistance) Act 1999* (an individual's Part A rate);
 - (b) an amount of carer allowance under the *Social Security Act* 1991;
 - (c) an amount of double orphan pension under the *Social Security Act 1991*.

16 Certain family relationships

For the purposes of this Act, relationships (including the relationship of being family or being relatives) are taken to include (without limitation):

- (a) relationships between de facto partners; and
- (b) relationships of child and parent that arise:
 - (i) if someone is an exnuptial or adoptive child of a person; or
 - (ii) because of the definitions of *child* and *parent* in section 3: and
- (c) relationships traced through relationships referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b).

17 Persons caring for prescribed children

22

For the purposes of the definition of *prescribed person* in section 3, a person who has the care of a child referred to in

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

subparagraph (b)(iii) of that definition must not be treated as not wholly or mainly maintained by the relevant employee merely because the employee pays the person remuneration for caring for the child.

Registered: 29/5/15

Division 3 Miscellaneous preliminary provisions

Division 3—Miscellaneous preliminary provisions

18 Extent of Act

This Act extends to all places outside Australia, including the external Territories.

19 Application of Act

- (1) This Act applies to the employment of employees on a prescribed ship that is engaged in trade or commerce:
 - (a) between Australia and places outside Australia; or
 - (aa) between 2 places outside Australia; or
 - (b) among the States; or
 - (c) within a Territory, between a State and a Territory or between 2 Territories.

Note: This Act does not apply if a prescribed ship is a ship registered in the Australian International Shipping Register, see paragraph 61AA(b) of the *Shipping Registration Act 1981*.

- (1AA) This Act also applies to the employment of employees on:
 - (a) a vessel that is used to engage in coastal trading under a general licence; or
 - (b) a vessel that is used to engage in coastal trading under an emergency licence if the vessel is registered in the Australian General Shipping Register.
 - (1A) This Act also applies to the employment of employees on any prescribed ship that:
 - (a) would be an off-shore industry vessel within the meaning of the *Navigation Act 1912* if that Act had not been repealed and either:
 - (i) was, immediately before the repeal of that Act, covered by a declaration in force under subsection 8A(2) of that Act; or

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

24

- (ii) is covered by a declaration in force under subsection (1C) of this section; or
- (b) would be a trading ship within the meaning of the *Navigation Act 1912* if that Act had not been repealed and either:
 - (i) was, immediately before the repeal of that Act, covered by a declaration in force under subsection 8AA(2) of that Act; or
 - (ii) is covered by a declaration in force under subsection (1C) of this section.
- (1B) However, this Act does not apply because of subsection (1A) to a prescribed ship that is covered by a declaration in force under subsection (1D).
- (1C) The Authority may declare in writing that this Act applies to a prescribed ship that would be an off-shore industry vessel, or a trading ship, within the meaning of the *Navigation Act 1912* if that Act had not been repealed.
- (1D) The Authority may declare in writing that this Act does not apply because of subsection (1A) to a prescribed ship that would be an off-shore industry vessel, or a trading ship, within the meaning of the *Navigation Act 1912* if that Act had not been repealed.
- (1E) A declaration made under subsection (1C) or (1D) is not a legislative instrument.

19A Extended application of Act for trainees etc.

- (1) This Act also applies to the employment of a trainee who, as required by his or her employer, is attending a training course in connection with, or for the purpose of, employment by that employer on:
 - (a) a prescribed ship that is engaged in trade or commerce:
 - (i) between Australia and places outside Australia; or
 - (ii) between 2 places outside Australia; or
 - (iii) among the States; or

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

25

Registered: 29/5/15

- (iv) within a Territory, between a State and a Territory or between 2 Territories; or
- (b) a vessel of a kind referred to in subsection 19(1AA); or
- (c) a prescribed ship to which paragraph 19(1A)(a) or (b) applies.
- (2) This Act also applies to the employment of a person of a kind referred to in paragraph 4(1)(c) who would ordinarily be employed or engaged as a seafarer on:
 - (a) a prescribed ship that is engaged in trade or commerce:
 - (i) between Australia and places outside Australia; or
 - (ii) between 2 places outside Australia; or
 - (iii) among the States; or
 - (iv) within a Territory, between a State and a Territory or between 2 Territories; or
 - (b) a vessel of a kind referred to in subsection 19(1AA); or
 - (c) a prescribed ship to which paragraph 19(1A)(a) or (b) applies.
- (3) This section does not limit the operation of section 19.

20 Act not to apply to employees within the meaning of the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988

Despite any other provision of this Act, this Act does not apply to a person who is an employee within the meaning of the *Safety*, *Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988*.

20A Act not to apply to exempt employment

- (1) The Authority may, in writing, either generally or as otherwise provided in the exemption, exempt the employment on a particular ship of all employees, of a particular group or particular groups of employees, or of a particular employee or particular employees, from the application of:
 - (a) this Act; and

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

26

- (b) the Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Levy Act 1992; and
- (c) the Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Levy Collection Act 1992.
- (2) An exemption is subject to any conditions set out in the exemption.
- (3) If an exemption is in force in respect of a ship, those Acts (other than this section) do not apply, to the extent stated in the exemption, in relation to the employment on the ship of employees to whom the exemption applies so long as any conditions of the exemption are complied with.
- (4) The Authority must not grant an exemption if the proposed exemption would be inconsistent with an obligation of Australia under an international agreement.

21 Act binds Crown etc.

- (1) This Act binds the Crown in right of the Commonwealth.
- (2) This Act does not permit the Crown to be prosecuted for an offence.

21A Application of Criminal Code

Chapter 2 of the *Criminal Code* applies to all offences against this Act.

Note:

Chapter 2 of the *Criminal Code* sets out the general principles of criminal responsibility.

22 Amounts of compensation

An amount of compensation payable under a provision of this Act in respect of an injury is, unless the contrary intention appears, in addition to an amount of compensation paid or payable under any other provision of this Act in respect of that injury.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

27

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

Section 23

23 Indexation—Consumer Price Index

(1) In this section:

commencing day means the day on which this section commences.

index number, in relation to a quarter, means the All Groups Consumer Price Index number, being the weighted average of the 8 capital cities, published by the Australian Statistician in respect of that quarter.

relevant amount means the amount specified in subsection 30(2), 31(9), (10) or (11), 39(9), 41(2), 43(2) or (4) or 44(1).

relevant year means the period of 12 months starting on 1 July 1992, and each later period of 12 months.

- (2) Subject to subsection (3), if (whether before, on or after the commencing day) the Australian Statistician has published or publishes an index number in respect of a quarter in substitution for an index number previously published in respect of that quarter, the publication of the later index number must be disregarded for the purposes of this section.
- (3) If (whether before, on or after the commencing day) the Australian Statistician has changed or changes the reference base for the Consumer Price Index, then, for the purposes of the application of this section after the change took place or takes place, regard must only be had to the index number published in terms of the new reference base.
- (4) If the factor worked out under subsection (5) in relation to a relevant year is greater than one, this Act has effect as if for each relevant amount there were substituted, on the first day of that relevant year, an amount worked out by multiplying by that factor:
 - (a) if, because of one or more other applications of this section, this Act has effect as if another amount or amounts were substituted for the relevant amount—the substituted amount or the last substituted amount; or
 - (b) in any other case—the relevant amount.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

28

- (5) The factor worked out in relation to a relevant year is the number (calculated to 3 decimal places) worked out by dividing the index number of the December quarter immediately before the relevant year by the index number for the December quarter immediately before that first-mentioned December quarter.
- (6) If the factor worked out in relation to a relevant year would, if it were calculated to 4 decimal places, end with a number greater than 4, the factor in relation to that relevant year is taken to be the factor calculated to 3 decimal places in accordance with subsection (5) and increased by 0.001.

23A Indexation—Wage Price Index

Definitions

(1) In this section:

index number, in relation to a quarter, means:

- (a) the Wage Price Index (total hourly rates of pay excluding bonuses/all sectors/all Australia/original) number published by the Australian Statistician in respect of that quarter; or
- (b) if:
 - (i) a series of index numbers is prescribed for the purposes of this paragraph; and
 - (ii) the Australian Statistician publishes an index number in respect of the quarter; and
 - (iii) that index number belongs to the series; that index number.

relevant amount means the amount specified in subsection 29(3), (4) or (5).

relevant year means:

- (a) the financial year starting on 1 July 2009; or
- (b) a later financial year.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

29

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

Section 23A

Indexation

- (2) If the indexation factor for a relevant year is greater than one, this Act has effect as if for each relevant amount there were substituted, on the first day of that relevant year, an amount calculated by multiplying by that factor:
 - (a) if, because of one or more other applications of this section, this Act has effect as if another amount or amounts were substituted for the relevant amount—the substituted amount or the last substituted amount; or
 - (b) in any other case—the relevant amount.

Indexation factor

(3) For the purposes of this section, the *indexation factor* for a relevant year is the number calculated, to 3 decimal places, using the formula:

Index number for the reference December quarter

Index number for the base December quarter

where:

base December quarter means the last December quarter before the reference December quarter.

reference December quarter means the last December quarter before the relevant year.

(4) If the number calculated under subsection (3) for a relevant year would, if it were calculated to 4 decimal places, end with a number greater than 4, the number so calculated is increased by 0.001.

Other provisions

(5) Subject to subsection (6), if at any time, whether before or after the commencement of this section, the Australian Statistician has published or publishes an index number for a quarter in substitution for an index number previously published for that

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

30

quarter, the publication of the later index number is to be disregarded for the purposes of this section.

- (6) If at any time, whether before or after the commencement of this section, the Australian Statistician has changed or changes the reference base for:
 - (a) the Wage Price Index; or
 - (b) another index;

then, for the purposes of the application of this section after the change took place or takes place, regard is to be had only to the index number published in terms of the new reference base.

24 Liability to pay compensation

The liability of an employer to pay compensation to a person under this Act is the liability of the employer to pay the amount or amounts that the employer determines, in accordance with this Act, to be payable to the person.

25 Compensation to be paid in full

Subject to subsection 29(4) and sections 30 to 37 (inclusive), 47, 55, 58 and 139, compensation in respect of an injury must be paid in full by an employer whose employment has made a material contribution to the injury.

Part 2—Compensation

Division 1—Injuries, property loss or damage, medical expenses

26 Compensation for injuries

- (1) If an employee suffers an injury that results in his or her death, incapacity for work, or impairment, compensation is payable for the injury.
- (2) Compensation is not payable for an intentionally self-inflicted injury.
- (3) Compensation is not payable for an injury that is not intentionally self-inflicted but is caused by the serious and wilful misconduct of the employee, unless the injury results in death, or serious and permanent impairment.

27 Compensation for property loss or damage

(1) If:

32

- (a) an employee has an accident arising out of, or in the course of, his or her employment; and
- (b) the accident does not cause injury to the employee but results in the loss of, or damage to, property used by the employee; compensation of an amount equal to the expenditure reasonably incurred by the employee in the necessary replacement or repair of the property is payable to the employee.
- (2) For the purposes of subsection (1), expenditure incurred by an employee in the necessary replacement or repair of property is taken to include any fees or charges paid or payable by the employee to a legally qualified medical practitioner or dentist, or other qualified person, for a consultation, examination, prescription, or other service reasonably rendered in connection with the replacement or repair.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

(3) Compensation is not payable under this section if the loss or damage is caused by the serious and wilful misconduct of the employee.

28 Compensation for medical and related expenses

- (1) If an employee:
 - (a) suffers an injury; and
 - (b) obtains medical treatment for the injury, being treatment that it was reasonable for the employee to obtain in the circumstances;

compensation is payable for the cost of the medical treatment, of such amount as is appropriate, having regard to the nature of the treatment.

- (2) Subsection (1) applies whether or not the injury results in death, incapacity for work, or impairment.
- (3) For the purposes of subsection (1), the cost of medical treatment involving the supply, replacement or repair of property used by an employee, is taken to include any fees or charges paid or payable by the employee to a legally qualified medical practitioner or dentist, or other qualified person, for a consultation, examination, prescription or other service reasonably required in connection with that supply, replacement or repair.
- (4) An amount of compensation under subsection (1) is payable:
 - (a) to, or in accordance with the directions of, the employee; or
 - (b) if the employee dies before the compensation is paid and without having paid the cost referred to in subsection (1) and another person (who is not the legal personal representative of the employee) has paid that cost—to that other person; or
 - (c) if that cost has not been paid and the employee, or the legal personal representative of the employee, does not claim the compensation—to the person to whom the cost is payable.
- (5) If an employer is liable to pay any cost referred to in subsection (1), any amount paid under subsection (4) to the person

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

33

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

- to whom that cost is payable is, to the extent of the payment, a discharge of the liability of the employer.
- (6) Subject to subsection (7), if compensation in respect of the cost of medical treatment is payable under subsection (1), the employer is liable to pay to the employee an amount of compensation in respect of expenditure reasonably incurred by the employee in doing either or both of the following:
 - (a) making a journey, necessary for the purpose of obtaining the treatment, from the place in Australia where the employee is residing to the place where the treatment is to be obtained;
 - (b) remaining, for the purpose of obtaining that treatment, at a place to which the employee has made a journey for that purpose.
- (6A) The amount of compensation that the employer is liable to pay in respect of the journey is:
 - (a) in relation to a journey by means of public transport or ambulance services—an amount equal to the expenditure reasonably incurred in undertaking that journey; or
 - (b) in relation to a journey by means of private motor vehicle—an amount worked out using the formula:

Specified rate per kilometre × Number of kilometres travelled

where:

Specified rate per kilometre means such rate per kilometre as the Minister specifies, by legislative instrument, under this paragraph in respect of journeys to which this paragraph applies.

Number of kilometres travelled means the number of whole kilometres that the employer determines to have been the reasonable length of such a journey (including the return part of the journey).

(6AA) If the place where the employee is residing is not the place where the employee normally resides, the amount payable in respect of the journey is not to exceed the amount that would be payable if

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

34

- the journey were made from the place where the employee normally resides.
- (6B) The amount of compensation that the employer is liable to pay in respect of the employee remaining at a place for the purpose of obtaining the treatment is an amount equal to the expenditure so reasonably incurred in remaining for that purpose.
 - (7) Compensation is not payable under subsection (6) unless:
 - (a) in relation to a journey to which paragraph (6A)(a) applies the employee's injury reasonably required the use of public transport or ambulance services (as the case may be) regardless of the distance involved; or
 - (b) in relation to a journey to which paragraph (6A)(b) applies the reasonable length of such a journey exceeded 50 kilometres.
 - (8) The matters to be taken into account in deciding questions arising under subsections (6), (6A), (6AA), (6B) and (7) include:
 - (a) the place or places where appropriate medical treatment was available to the employee; and
 - (b) the means of transport available to the employee for the iourney; and
 - (c) the route or routes by which the employee could have travelled; and
 - (d) the accommodation available to the employee.
 - (9) If:
 - (a) an employee suffers an injury; and
 - (b) a person has reasonably incurred expenditure in connection with the transportation of the employee, or, if the employee has died, of the employee's body, from the place where the injury was sustained to a hospital or similar place, or to a mortuary; and

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

35

Section 28

(c) an employee, or the legal personal representative of the employee, does not make a claim for compensation for that expenditure;

compensation of an amount equal to that expenditure is payable to the person who incurred the expenditure.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

36

Division 2—Injuries resulting in death

29 Compensation for injuries resulting in death

- (1) This section applies if an injury to an employee results in the employee's death.
- (2) Subject to this section and sections 28 and 30, if the employee dies without leaving dependants, compensation is not payable for the injury.
- (3) If the employee dies leaving dependants some or all of whom were, at the date of the employee's death, wholly dependent on the employee:
 - (a) subject to this section and to sections 28 and 30, compensation of \$412,000 is payable for the injury; and
 - (b) that compensation is payable for the benefit of those dependants.
- (4) If the employee dies without leaving dependants who were wholly dependent on the employee at the date of the employee's death, but leaving dependants who were partly dependent on the employee at that date:
 - (a) subject to this section and to sections 28 and 30, compensation is payable for the injury of such amount, not exceeding \$412,000, as is appropriate, having regard to any losses suffered by those dependants as a result of the cessation of the employee's earnings; and
 - (b) that compensation is payable for the benefit of those dependants.
- (5) If:
 - (a) a prescribed child was, at the date of the injury or at the date of the employee's death, wholly or mainly dependent on the employee; or

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

37

Compilation No. 25

Compilation date: 26/5/15

- (b) a prescribed child, being a child of the employee, was born after the employee's death; or
- (c) a prescribed child would, if the employee had not died, have been wholly or mainly dependent on the employee;

compensation is payable at the rate of \$113.30 per week and that compensation is payable to, or in accordance with the directions of:

- (d) if the prescribed child is 18 or over—the child; or
- (e) if the prescribed child is under 18—the Authority for the benefit of the child;

from the date of the employee's death or the date of the birth of the child, whichever is later.

- (6) Compensation is not payable under subsection (5) in respect of:
 - (a) any period during which the child is not a prescribed child; and
 - (b) in the case of a child referred to in paragraph (5)(c)—any period during which, if the employee had not died, the child would not have been wholly or mainly dependent upon the employee.
- (7) An amount of compensation paid or payable under this Act before the death of an employee:
 - (a) is not affected by subsection (2); and
 - (b) must not be deducted from the compensation payable under subsection (3); and
 - (c) must not be taken into account in determining the compensation payable under subsection (4).
- (8) If an amount of compensation is payable under subsection (3) or (4) for the benefit of 2 or more dependants of the deceased employee, the employer must determine the shares of those dependants in that amount as it thinks fit, having regard to any losses suffered by those dependants as a result of the cessation of the employee's earnings.
- (9) A reference in this section to a dependant of a deceased employee is a reference to a dependant by or on behalf of whom a claim is made for compensation under this section.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

38

(10) If claims for compensation under subsection (3) or (4) are made by or on behalf of 2 or more dependants of a deceased employee, the employer must make one determination in respect of those claims.

30 Compensation in respect of funeral expenses

- (1) If an injury to an employee results in death, compensation is payable for the cost of the employee's funeral to the person who paid the cost of the funeral or, if that cost has not been paid, to the person who carried out the funeral.
- (2) The amount of compensation is such amount, not exceeding \$3,500, as the employer determines is reasonable, having regard to:
 - (a) the charges ordinarily made for funerals in the place where the funeral was carried out; and
 - (b) any amount paid or payable in respect of the cost of the funeral under any other law of the Commonwealth.
- (3) If an employer is liable to pay the cost of the funeral of an employee, any amount paid under this section to the person who carried out the funeral is, to the extent of the payment, a discharge of the liability of the employer.

Division 3—Injuries resulting in incapacity for work

31 Compensation for injuries resulting in incapacity

- (1) This section applies to an employee who is incapacitated for work as a result of an injury, other than an employee to whom section 33, 34, 35, 36 or 37 applies.
- (2) Subject to subsection (3) and this Part (other than this section), compensation for the injury is payable to the employee, for each of the first 45 weeks (whether consecutive or otherwise) during which the employee is incapacitated, of an amount worked out using the formula:

Normal weekly earnings – Earnings in suitable employment where:

Normal weekly earnings means the amount of the employee's normal weekly earnings.

Earnings in suitable employment means the amount per week (if any) that the employee is able to earn in suitable employment.

- (3) If the employee is a seafarer, the compensation payable under subsection (2) is payable for each of the first 45 weeks (whether consecutive or otherwise) after the date on which the seafarer is left on shore at, or returned to, his or her home port (as defined in the *Navigation Act 2012*).
- (4) Subject to this Part (other than this section), compensation for the injury is payable to the employee, for each week during which the employee is incapacitated, being a week to which subsection (2) does not apply.
- (5) The amount of compensation per week payable under subsection (4) to an employee is:
 - (a) if the employee is not employed during that week—an amount equal to 75% of his or her normal weekly earnings

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

40

- less the amount (if any) that he or she was able to earn during that week in suitable employment; or
- (b) if the employee is employed for 25% or less of his or her normal weekly hours during that week—an amount that, when added to the amount that he or she was able to earn during that week in suitable employment, results in an amount equal to 80% of his or her normal weekly earnings; or
- (c) if the employee is employed for more than 25% but not more than 50% of his or her normal weekly hours during that week—an amount that, when added to the amount that he or she was able to earn during that week in suitable employment, results in an amount equal to 85% of his or her normal weekly earnings; or
- (d) if the employee is employed for more than 50% but not more than 75% of his or her normal weekly hours during that week—an amount that, when added to the amount that he or she was able to earn during that week in suitable employment, results in an amount equal to 90% of his or her normal weekly earnings; or
- (e) if the employee is employed for more than 75% but less than 100% of his or her normal weekly hours during that week— an amount that, when added to the amount that he or she was able to earn during that week in suitable employment, results in an amount equal to 95% of his or her normal weekly earnings; or
- (f) if the employee is employed for 100% of his or her normal weekly hours during that week—an amount that, when added to the amount that he or she was able to earn during that week in suitable employment, results in an amount equal to 100% of his or her normal weekly earnings.

(6) If:

- (a) compensation is payable under subsection (4) to an employee for a week; and
- (b) the employee is employed or engaged during the whole or any part of that week as a seafarer;

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

41

Compilation No. 25

Compilation date: 26/5/15

- subsection (5) applies in relation to the employee as if he or she were covered by paragraph (5)(f).
- (7) If an amount of compensation worked out under subsection (5) is more than 150% of the amount called the *Average Weekly Ordinary Time Earnings of Fulltime Adults*, as published from time to time by the Australian Statistician, the amount so worked out must be reduced by an amount equal to the excess.
- (8) If an amount of compensation worked out under paragraph (5)(a) is less than the minimum earnings of the employee, the amount so worked out must be increased by an amount equal to the difference between that amount and the minimum earnings.
- (9) For the purposes of subsection (8), the minimum earnings of an employee are taken to be:
 - (a) \$254.46, or, if subsection (10) or (11) applies to the employee, the sum of \$254.46 and the amount or amounts required to be added under whichever of those subsections applies; or
 - (b) an amount equal to 90% of the employee's normal weekly earnings;

whichever is less.

- (10) If there are one or more prescribed persons wholly or mainly dependent on the employee, the amount of \$62.99 must be added to the amount of \$254.46 specified in paragraph (9)(a).
- (11) If there are one or more prescribed children (whether born before, on or after the date of the injury) wholly or mainly dependent on the employee, the amount of \$31.50 for each of those children must be added to the amount of \$254.46 specified in paragraph (9)(a), but an amount must not be so added for a child in relation to any period before the date of birth of that child.
- (12) If a prescribed child is:
 - (a) a prescribed person in relation to the employee; and
 - (b) the only prescribed person who is wholly or mainly dependent on the employee;

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

42

subsection (11) does not apply to the child.

- (13) If 2 or more prescribed children are each:
 - (a) a prescribed person in relation to the employee; and
 - (b) wholly or mainly dependent on the employee; subsection (10) applies to one of those children and subsection (11) applies to the rest.
- (14) For the purposes of this section the normal weekly hours of an employee who is not employed on a ship are:
 - (a) if the industrial instrument or National Employment Standards that apply to the employee specifies the normal weekly hours of an employee—those hours; or
 - (b) in any other case—38 hours.

32 Determination of suitable employment

An employer who determines, for the purposes of section 31, the amount per week that an employee is able to earn in suitable employment must have regard to the following:

- (a) if the employee is in employment—the amount per week that the employee is earning in that employment;
- (b) if, after becoming incapacitated for work, the employee received an offer of suitable employment and did not accept that offer—the amount per week that the employee would be earning in that employment if he or she were engaged in that employment;
- (c) if, after becoming incapacitated for work, the employee received an offer of suitable employment and, having accepted that offer, did not engage, or continue to engage, in that employment—the amount per week that the employee would be earning in that employment if he or she were engaged in that employment;
- (d) if, after becoming incapacitated for work, the employee received an offer of suitable employment on condition that the employee completed a reasonable rehabilitation or vocational retraining program and the employee did not fulfil

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

43

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

- that condition—the amount per week that the employee would be earning in that employment if he or she were engaged in that employment;
- (e) if, after becoming incapacitated for work, the employee has not sought suitable employment—the amount per week that, having regard to the state of the labour-market at the relevant time, the employee could reasonably be expected to earn in such employment if he or she were engaged in such employment;
- (f) if paragraph (b), (c), (d) or (e) applies to the employee whether the employee's failure to accept an offer of employment, to engage, or to continue to engage, in employment, to undertake, or to complete, a rehabilitation or vocational retraining program or to seek employment, as the case may be, was, in the opinion of the employer, reasonable in all the circumstances;
- (g) any other matter that the employer considers relevant.

33 Compensation for injuries resulting in incapacity where employee is in receipt of a superannuation pension

- (1) This section applies to an employee who:
 - (a) is incapacitated for work as a result of an injury; and
 - (b) retires (whether voluntarily or otherwise) from his or her employment at any time after the commencement of this section; and
 - (c) as a result of the retirement, receives a pension under a superannuation scheme.
- (2) Compensation is payable to the employee for the injury under this section for each week after the date of the retirement during which the employee is incapacitated.
- (3) The amount of compensation is an amount worked out using the formula:

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

44

where:

Unadjusted amount of compensation means the amount of compensation that would have been payable to the employee for a week if:

- (a) section 31, other than subsection 31(8), had applied to the employee; and
- (b) the week were a week referred to in subsection 31(4).

Superannuation amount means the superannuation amount received by the employee that week under a superannuation scheme.

Superannuation contributions means the amount of superannuation contributions that would have been required to be paid by the employee in that week if he or she were still contributing to the superannuation scheme.

34 Compensation for injuries resulting in incapacity where employee is in receipt of a lump sum benefit

- (1) This section applies to an employee who:
 - (a) is incapacitated for work as a result of an injury; and
 - (b) retires (whether voluntarily or otherwise) from his or her employment at any time after the commencement of this section; and
 - (c) as a result of the retirement, receives a lump sum benefit under a superannuation scheme; and
 - (d) has not rolled-over the lump sum benefit into another superannuation fund or an approved deposit fund.
- (2) Compensation is payable to the employee for the injury under this section for each week after the date of the retirement during which the employee is incapacitated.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

45

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

(3) The amount of compensation is an amount worked out using the formula:

$$\frac{\text{Unadjusted amount}}{\text{of compensation}} - \left[\frac{\text{Superannuation amount}}{520} + \frac{\text{Superannuation}}{\text{contributions}} \right]$$

where:

Unadjusted amount of compensation means the amount of compensation that would have been payable to the employee for a week if:

- (a) section 31, other than subsection 31(8), had applied to the employee; and
- (b) the week were a week referred to in subsection 31(4).

Superannuation amount means the superannuation amount received by the employee as a lump sum.

Superannuation contributions means the amount of superannuation contributions that would have been required to be paid by the employee in that week if he or she were still contributing to the superannuation scheme.

(4) In this section:

approved deposit fund has the same meaning as in the *Income Tax* Assessment Act 1997.

rolled-over means paid as a roll-over superannuation benefit (within the meaning of the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1997*).

superannuation fund has the same meaning as in Subdivision AA of Division 2 of Part III of the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1936* (as in force just before the commencement of Schedule 1 to the Superannuation Legislation Amendment (Simplification) Act 2007).

46

35 Compensation for injuries resulting in incapacity where employee rolled-over part of a lump sum benefit

- (1) This section applies to an employee who:
 - (a) has been incapacitated for work as a result of an injury; and
 - (b) retired (whether voluntarily or otherwise) from his or her employment at any time after the commencement of this section; and
 - (c) as a result of the retirement, receives a lump sum benefit under a superannuation scheme; and
 - (d) rolled-over part of the lump sum benefit into a superannuation fund or an approved deposit fund.
- (2) Compensation is payable to the employee for the injury under this section for each week after the date of the retirement during which the employee is incapacitated.
- (3) The amount of compensation is an amount worked out using the formula:

where:

Unadjusted amount of compensation means the amount of compensation that would have been payable to the employee for a week if:

- (a) section 31, other than subsection 31(8), had applied to the employee; and
- (b) the week were a week referred to in subsection 31(4).

ComLaw Authoritative Act C2015C00246

Amount not rolled-over means the amount not rolled-over or withdrawn from the superannuation fund or approved deposit fund to which the lump sum benefit was rolled-over.

Lump sum benefit means the amount of the lump sum benefit received by the employee.

Superannuation amount means the superannuation amount received by the employee as a lump sum.

(4) In this section:

approved deposit fund has the same meaning as in section 34.

rolled-over has the same meaning as in section 34.

superannuation fund has the same meaning as in section 34.

36 Compensation for injuries resulting in incapacity where the employee rolled-over the whole of a lump sum benefit

- (1) This section applies to an employee who:
 - (a) has been incapacitated for work as a result of an injury; and
 - (b) retired (whether voluntarily or otherwise) from his or her employment at any time after the commencement of this section; and
 - (c) as a result of the retirement, receives a lump sum benefit under a superannuation scheme; and
 - (d) rolled-over the lump sum benefit into a superannuation fund or an approved deposit fund.
- (2) Compensation is payable to the employee for the injury under this section for each week after the date of the retirement during which the employee is incapacitated.
- (3) The amount of compensation is an amount worked out using the formula:

Unadjusted amount of compensation	_	Superannuation	contributions
-----------------------------------	---	----------------	---------------

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

48

where:

Unadjusted amount of compensation means the amount of compensation that would have been payable to the employee for a week if:

- (a) section 31, other than subsection 31(8), had applied to the employee; and
- (b) the week were a week referred to in subsection 31(4).

Superannuation contributions means the amount of superannuation contributions that would have been required to be paid by the employee in that week if he or she were still contributing to the superannuation scheme.

(4) In this section:

approved deposit fund has the same meaning as in section 34.

rolled-over has the same meaning as in section 34.

superannuation fund has the same meaning as in section 34.

37 Compensation where employee is maintained in a hospital

- (1) If:
 - (a) as a result of an injury, an employee (other than an employee to whom section 33, 34, 35 or 36 applies) is maintained as a patient in a hospital, nursing home or similar place, and has been so maintained for a continuous period of not less than one year; and
 - (b) there are no prescribed persons or prescribed children who are dependent on the employee;

compensation is payable to the employee for the injury of the amount, for each week during which the employee is so maintained, determined by the person liable to pay the compensation, having regard to:

(c) the present and probable future needs and expenses of the employee; and

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

49

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

- (d) the period during which the employee is likely to be such a patient.
- (2) An amount determined under subsection (1) must not be less than one-half of, nor more than, the amount per week of compensation that would have been payable to the employee under section 31 had that section applied to the employee.

38 Compensation for incapacity not payable in certain cases

- (1) If an employee who has not reached 64 suffers an injury, compensation is not payable under this Division for the injury after the person reaches 65.
- (2) If an employee who has reached 64 suffers an injury, compensation is not payable under this Division for the injury after the end of the period of 12 months starting on the day on which the injury happened.
- (3) Compensation is not payable under section 31, 33, 34, 35 or 36 in respect of any period during which the employee is imprisoned for committing an offence.
- (4) Subject to section 45, if a determination is made that an amount of compensation is payable to an employee under section 44 for an injury, compensation is not payable to the employee under section 31, 33, 34, 35 or 36 in respect of a period of incapacity for work resulting from the injury, being a period after the day on which the determination is made.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

50

Division 4—Injuries resulting in permanent impairment

39 Compensation for injuries resulting in permanent impairment

- (1) If an injury to an employee results in a permanent impairment, compensation is payable to the employee for the injury.
- (2) For the purpose of determining whether an impairment is permanent, the employer must have regard to the following matters:
 - (a) the duration of the impairment;
 - (b) the likelihood of improvement in the employee's condition;
 - (c) whether the employee has undertaken all reasonable rehabilitative treatment for the impairment;
 - (d) any other relevant matters.
- (3) Subject to this section, the amount of compensation payable to the employee is an amount assessed under subsection (4) by the employer, being an amount that is not more than the maximum amount at the date of the assessment.
- (4) The amount assessed must be an amount that is the same percentage of the maximum amount as the percentage determined under subsection (5).
- (5) The employer under this section must determine the degree of permanent impairment of the employee resulting from an injury under the provisions of the approved Guide.
- (6) The degree of permanent impairment must be expressed as a percentage.
- (7) Subject to section 40, where the degree of permanent impairment of the employee, as determined under this section, is less than 10%, an amount of compensation is not payable to the employee under this section.
- (8) Subsection (7) does not apply to one or more of the following:

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

51

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

Section 40

- (a) the impairment constituted by the loss, or the loss of the use, of a finger;
- (b) the impairment constituted by the loss, or the loss of the use, of a toe;
- (c) the impairment constituted by the loss of the sense of taste;
- (d) the impairment constituted by the loss of the sense of smell.
- (9) For the purposes of this section, the maximum amount is \$100,778.56.

40 Interim payment of compensation

- (1) If an employer:
 - (a) makes a determination that an employee is suffering from a permanent impairment as a result of an injury; and
 - (b) is satisfied that the degree of the impairment is equal to or more than 10% but has not made a final determination of the degree of impairment;

the employer must, on the written request of the employee made at any time before the final determination is made, make an interim determination of the degree of permanent impairment under section 39 and assess an amount of compensation payable to the employee.

- (2) The amount assessed under subsection (1) must be an amount that is the same percentage of the maximum amount specified in subsection 39(9) as the percentage worked out in the interim determination under subsection (1) to express the degree of permanent impairment of the employee.
- (3) If, after an amount of compensation has been paid to an employee following the making of an interim determination, a final determination is made of the degree of permanent impairment of the employee, there is payable to the employee an amount equal to the difference (if any) between the amount payable under section 39 on the making of the final determination and the amount paid to the employee under this section.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

52

(4) If a final assessment is made of the degree of permanent impairment of an employee, no further amounts of compensation are payable to the employee in respect of a subsequent increase in the degree of impairment, unless the increase is 10% or more.

41 Compensation for non-economic loss

- (1) If an injury to an employee results in a permanent impairment and compensation is payable for the injury under section 39, the employer is liable to pay additional compensation in accordance with this section to the employee for any non-economic loss suffered by the employee as a result of the injury or impairment.
- (2) The amount of compensation is an amount worked out using the formula:

where:

Degree of permanent impairment means the percentage finally determined under section 39 to be the degree of permanent impairment of the employee.

Degree of non-economic loss means the percentage determined under the approved Guide, by the employer, to be the degree of non-economic loss suffered by the employee.

42 Approved Guide

- (1) The Authority may, from time to time, prepare a written document, to be called the "Guide to the Assessment of the Degree of Permanent Impairment", setting out:
 - (a) criteria by reference to which the degree of the permanent impairment of an employee resulting from an injury must be determined; and

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

53

Compilation No. 25

Section 42

- (b) criteria by reference to which the degree of non-economic loss suffered by an employee as a result of an injury or impairment must be determined; and
- (c) methods by which the degree of permanent impairment and the degree of non-economic loss, as determined under those criteria, must be expressed as a percentage.
- (2) The Authority may, from time to time, by instrument in writing, vary or revoke the approved Guide.
- (3) A document prepared by the Authority under subsection (1), and an instrument under subsection (2), have no force or effect unless and until approved by the Minister.
- (3A) A Guide prepared under subsection (1), or a variation or revocation of a Guide under subsection (2), that is approved by the Minister is a legislative instrument made by the Minister on the day on which he or she approves the Guide, variation or revocation.
- (4) If an employer or the Administrative Appeals Tribunal is required to assess or reassess, or review the assessment or reassessment of, the degree of permanent impairment of an employee resulting from an injury, or the degree of non-economic loss suffered by an employee, the assessment, reassessment or review must be made in accordance with the approved Guide.
- (5) The percentage of permanent impairment or non-economic loss suffered by an employee as a result of an injury ascertained under the methods referred to in paragraph (1)(c) may be 0%.
- (6) In preparing criteria for the purposes of paragraphs (1)(a) and (b), or in varying those criteria, the Authority must have regard to medical opinion concerning the nature and effect (including possible effect) of the injury and the extent (if any) to which impairment resulting from the injury, or non-economic loss resulting from the injury or impairment, may reasonably be capable of being reduced or removed.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

54

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

(8)	The Authority must make copies of the approved Guide and of any
	approved variation of that Guide, available upon application by a
	person and payment of the prescribed fee (if any).

Division 5—Household and attendant care services

43 Compensation for household services and attendant care services

- (1) If, as a result of an injury to an employee, the employee obtains household services that he or she reasonably requires, compensation is payable at the rate of such amount per week as is reasonable in the circumstances.
- (2) The amount of compensation payable per week under subsection (1) for household services:
 - (a) must not be more than \$251.94; and
 - (b) must not be less than 50% of the amount per week paid or payable by the employee for those services, unless the amount per week so paid or payable is more than \$503.88.
- (3) Without limiting the matters that may be taken into account in determining the household services that are reasonably required in a particular case, the employer must have regard to the following matters:
 - (a) the extent to which household services were provided by the employee before the date of the injury and the extent to which he or she is able to provide those services after that date:
 - (b) the number of persons living with the employee as members of his or her household, their ages and their need for household services;
 - (c) the extent to which household services were provided by the persons referred to in paragraph (b) before the injury;
 - (d) the extent to which the persons referred to in paragraph (b), or any other members of the employee's family, might reasonably be expected to provide household services for themselves and for the employee after the injury;
 - (e) the need to avoid substantial disruption to the employment or other activities of the persons referred to in paragraph (b).

Note: In relation to paragraph (3)(d), see also section 16.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

56

- (4) If, as a result of an injury to an employee, the employee obtains attendant care services that he or she reasonably requires, compensation is payable at the rate of:
 - (a) \$251.94 per week; or
 - (b) an amount per week equal to the amount per week paid or payable by the employee for the services;

whichever is less.

- (5) Without limiting the matters that may be taken into account in determining the attendant care services that are reasonably required in a particular case, the employer must have regard to the following matters:
 - (a) the nature of the employee's injury and the degree to which that injury impairs the employee's ability to provide for his or her personal care;
 - (b) the extent to which any medical service or nursing care received by the employee provides for his or her essential and regular personal care;
 - (c) the extent to which it is reasonable to meet any wish by the employee to live outside an institution;
 - (d) the extent to which attendant care services are necessary to enable the employee to undertake or continue employment;
 - (e) any assessment made in relation to the rehabilitation of the employee;
 - (f) the extent to which a relative of the employee might reasonably be expected to provide attendant care services.

Note: In relation to paragraph (5)(f), see also section 16.

- (6) An employer is not liable to pay compensation under subsection (1) in respect of any week within the period of 28 days starting on the day of the injury unless the employer determines otherwise in a particular case on the ground of financial hardship or the need to provide for adequate supervision of dependent children.
- (7) An amount of compensation payable under subsection (1) or (4) is payable:

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

57

Compilation No. 25

Section 43

- (a) if the employee has paid for the household services or attendant care services, as the case may be—to the employee; or
- (b) in any other case—to the person who provided those services.
- (8) If an amount of compensation is paid to a person who provided household services or attendant care services to an employee, the payment of the amount is, to the extent of the payment, a discharge of the liability of the employee to pay for those services.

58

Division 6—Miscellaneous

44 Redemption of compensation

- (1) If:
 - (a) an employer is liable to make weekly payments under section 31, 33, 34, 35 or 36 to an employee for an injury resulting in an incapacity; and
 - (b) the amount of those payments is \$62.99 per week or less; and
 - (c) the employer is satisfied that the degree of the employee's incapacity is unlikely to change;

the employer must make a determination that any liability to make further payments to the employee under that section be redeemed by the payment to the employee of a lump sum.

(2) The amount of the lump sum is the amount worked out using the formula:

$$\frac{52 \times \text{Amount per week} \times \left[\left(\text{Specified rate} + 1 \right)^{y} - 1 \right]}{\text{Specified rate} \times \left(\text{Specified rate} + 1 \right)^{y}}$$

where:

Amount per week means the amount per week payable to the employee under section 31, 33, 34, 35 or 36 as the case may be, at the date of the determination.

Specified rate means the specified rate, expressed as a decimal fraction, applicable at the date of the determination.

y [number of years] means the number (calculated to 3 decimal places) worked out by dividing by 365 the number of days between the date of the determination and the day on which the employee reaches the age of 65 years.

ComLaw Authoritative Act C2015C00246

- (2A) If the number worked out under the definition of *Inumber of yearsI in subsection (2) would, if it were calculated to 4 decimal places, end with a number greater than 4, the number is taken to be the number calculated to 3 decimal places in accordance with that definition and increased by 0.001.
 - (3) The Minister may, from time to time, by legislative instrument, specify a rate for the purposes of subsection (2).

45 Recurrent payments after payment of lump sum

- (1) If:
 - (a) at any time after a lump sum is paid to an employee under section 44 for an injury, the injury results in the employee being incapacitated for work to the extent that the employee is not able to engage in suitable employment; and
 - (b) the incapacity is likely to continue indefinitely; compensation is payable to the employee under this section during the period of the incapacity.
- (2) The amount of compensation is an amount per week equal to the amount per week that would, but for the payment of the lump sum, have been payable to the employee under section 31, 33, 34, 35 or 36 as the case may be, for the incapacity, less the amount per week that was redeemed at the date of the determination under section 44.

46 Cancelled determinations not to affect certain payments of compensation

- (1) For the purposes of subsections 38(4) and 45(2), account must not be taken of a determination that the liability of an employer to make further payments to an employee under section 31, 33, 34, 35 or 36 is to be redeemed if the determination:
 - (a) is revoked by the employer; or
 - (b) is set aside by a tribunal or court.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

60

Compilation No. 25

Compilation date: 26/5/15

(2) Paragraph (1)(b) does not apply if a further determination is made by a tribunal or court, being a determination under which the liability of the employer to make further payments to the employee under section 31, 33, 34, 35 or 36 is to be redeemed.

47 Reduction of compensation in certain cases

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), if, in relation to a day in respect of which compensation is payable to an employee under section 31, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37 or 45, an amount is paid or payable to the employee by the employer by way of salary, wages or pay, the amount of compensation payable under that section in respect of that day must be reduced by the amount so paid or payable to the employee.
- (2) If, in relation to a day in respect of which compensation is payable to an employee under section 31, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37 or 45, an amount is payable to the employee in relation to recreation leave, the amount must not be paid and the employee must be recredited with a day's recreation leave.
- (3) In this section, a reference to an amount paid or payable to an employee by the employer does not include a reference to:
 - (a) an amount by way of pay in respect of a period of long service leave that is granted, or instead of the grant of a period of long service leave; or
 - (b) any amount that the employee is able to earn in suitable employment, being an amount that has been taken into account for the purposes of working out the amount of compensation payable to the employee under section 31.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

61

Part 3—Rehabilitation

48 Approved rehabilitation program providers

In this Part:

approved program provider has the same meaning as in the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988.

49 Assessment of capability of undertaking rehabilitation program

- (1) If an employee suffers an injury that lasts, or is expected to last, 28 days, which results in an impairment or an incapacity for work, the employee's employer must, within 28 days after receiving notice of the injury, arrange for the assessment of the employee's capability of undertaking a rehabilitation program.
- (2) An assessment must be made by:
 - (a) a legally qualified medical practitioner nominated by the employer; or
 - (b) a suitably qualified person (other than a medical practitioner) nominated by the employer; or
 - (c) a panel comprising legally qualified medical practitioners or other suitably qualified persons (or both) nominated by the employer.
- (3) The employer may require the employee to undergo an examination by the person or panel of persons making the assessment.
- (4) If an employee, without reasonable excuse, does not undergo an examination in accordance with a requirement, or in any way obstructs such an examination, the employee's rights to compensation under this Act, and to institute or continue any proceedings under this Act in relation to compensation, are suspended until the examination takes place.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

62

- (5) If an employee's right to compensation is suspended under subsection (4), compensation is not payable in respect of the period of the suspension.
- (6) The employer must pay the cost of conducting any examination of an employee.
- (6A) Subject to subsection (6D), the employer is liable to pay to the employee an amount of compensation in respect of expenditure reasonably incurred by the employee in doing either or both of the following:
 - (a) making a journey, necessary for the purpose of undergoing the examination, from the place in Australia where the employee is residing to the place where the examination is to be made;
 - (b) remaining, for the purpose of undergoing the examination, at a place to which the employee has made a journey for that purpose.
- (6B) The amount of compensation that the employer is liable to pay in respect of the journey is:
 - (a) in relation to a journey by means of public transport or ambulance services—an amount equal to the expenditure reasonably incurred in undertaking that journey; or
 - (b) in relation to a journey by means of private motor vehicle—an amount worked out using the formula:

Specified rate per kilometre × Number of kilometres travelled

where:

Specified rate per kilometre means such rate per kilometre as the Minister specifies, by legislative instrument, under this paragraph in respect of journeys to which this paragraph applies.

Number of kilometres travelled means the number of whole kilometres that the employer determines to have been the reasonable length of such a journey (including the return part of the journey).

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

63

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

- (6BA) If the place where the employee is residing is not the place where the employee normally resides, the amount payable in respect of the journey is not to exceed the amount that would be payable if the journey were made from the place where the employee normally resides.
 - (6C) The amount of compensation that the employer is liable to pay in respect of the employee remaining at a place for the purpose of undergoing the examination is an amount equal to the expenditure so reasonably incurred in remaining for that purpose.
 - (6D) Compensation is not payable under subsection (6A) unless:
 - (a) in relation to a journey to which paragraph (6B)(a) applies—the employee's injury reasonably required the use of public transport or ambulance services (as the case may be) regardless of the distance involved; or
 - (b) in relation to a journey to which paragraph (6B)(b) applies—the reasonable length of such a journey exceeded 50 kilometres.
 - (7) In deciding questions arising under subsections (6A), (6B), (6BA), (6C) and (6D), the employer must have regard to the following matters:
 - (a) the means of transport available to the employee for the journey;
 - (b) the route or routes by which the employee could have travelled;
 - (c) the accommodation available to the employee.
 - (8) If an examination is carried out, the person or persons who carried out the examination must give the employer a written assessment of the employee's capability of undertaking a rehabilitation program, specifying, where appropriate, the kind of program which he or she is capable of undertaking and containing any other information relating to the provision of a rehabilitation program for the employee that the employer may require.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

64

Compilation No. 25

Compilation date: 26/5/15

50 Provision of rehabilitation programs

- (1) If an employee of an employer is assessed under section 49 as capable of undertaking a rehabilitation program, the employer must, after consulting the employee in relation to:
 - (a) the selection of an approved program provider; and
 - (b) the development of an appropriate rehabilitation program by an approved program provider;
 - make arrangements with an approved program provider for the provision of an appropriate rehabilitation program.
- (2) The cost of any rehabilitation program provided for an employee under this section must be paid by the employer.
- (2A) Subject to subsection (2D), the employer is liable to pay to the employee an amount of compensation in respect of expenditure reasonably incurred by the employee in doing either or both of the following:
 - (a) making a journey, necessary for the purpose of undertaking the rehabilitation program, from the place in Australia where the employee is residing to the place where the program is to be undertaken;
 - (b) remaining, for the purpose of undertaking the program, at a place to which the employee has made a journey for that purpose.
- (2B) The amount of compensation that the employer is liable to pay in respect of the journey is:
 - (a) in relation to a journey by means of public transport or ambulance services—an amount equal to the expenditure reasonably incurred in undertaking that journey; or
 - (b) in relation to a journey by means of private motor vehicle—an amount worked out using the formula:

Specified rate per kilometre \times Number of kilometres travelled where:

ComLaw Authoritative Act C2015C00246

Specified rate per kilometre means such rate per kilometre as the Minister specifies, by legislative instrument, under this paragraph in respect of journeys to which this paragraph applies.

Number of kilometres travelled means the number of whole kilometres that the employer determines to have been the reasonable length of such a journey (including the return part of the journey).

- (2BA) If the place where the employee is residing is not the place where the employee normally resides, the amount payable in respect of the journey is not to exceed the amount that would be payable if the journey were made from the place where the employee normally resides.
 - (2C) The amount of compensation that the employer is liable to pay in respect of the employee remaining at a place for the purpose of undertaking the rehabilitation program is an amount equal to the expenditure so reasonably incurred in remaining for that purpose.
 - (2D) Compensation is not payable under subsection (2A) unless:
 - (a) in relation to a journey to which paragraph (2B)(a) applies—the employee's injury reasonably required the use of public transport or ambulance services (as the case may be) regardless of the distance involved; or
 - (b) in relation to a journey to which paragraph (2B)(b) applies—the reasonable length of such a journey exceeded 50 kilometres.
 - (2E) In deciding questions arising under subsections (2A), (2B), (2BA), (2C) and (2D), the employer must have regard to the following matters:
 - (a) the means of transport available to the employee for the journey;
 - (b) the route or routes by which the employee could have travelled;
 - (c) the accommodation available to the employee.

- (3) If an employee is undertaking a rehabilitation program under this section, compensation is not payable to the employee under section 31, 33, 34, 35, 36 or 45 but:
 - (a) if the employee is undertaking a full-time program—compensation is payable to the employee of an amount per week equal to the amount per week of the compensation that would, but for this subsection, have been payable under section 31, 33, 34, 35, 36 or 45 if the incapacity referred to in that section had continued throughout the period of the program; or
 - (b) if the employee is undertaking a part-time program—
 compensation is payable to the employee of such amount per
 week as the employer determines, being an amount not less
 than the amount per week of the compensation that, apart
 from this subsection, would have been payable to the
 employee under this Act and not greater than the amount per
 week of the compensation that would have been payable
 under paragraph (a) if the employee had been undertaking a
 full-time program.
- (5) If an employee, without reasonable excuse, does not undertake a rehabilitation program provided for the employee under this section, the employee's rights to compensation under this Act, and to institute or continue any proceedings under this Act in relation to compensation, are suspended until the employee starts to undertake the program.
- (6) If an employee's right to compensation is suspended under subsection (5), compensation is not payable in respect of the period of the suspension.

51 Compensation payable in respect of certain alterations etc.

- (1) If:
 - (a) an employee suffers an injury resulting in an impairment; and
 - (b) the employee is undertaking, or has completed, a rehabilitation program, or has been assessed as not capable of undertaking such a program;

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

67

Compilation No. 25

compensation is payable of such amount as is reasonable for the costs, payable by the employee, of:

- (c) any alteration of the employee's place of residence or place of work; or
- (d) any modifications of a vehicle or article used by the employee; or
- (e) any aids or appliances for the use of the employee, or the repair or replacement of such aids or appliances;

being alterations, modifications or aids or appliances reasonably required by the employee, having regard to the nature of the employee's impairment and, where appropriate, the requirements of the rehabilitation program.

- (2) Without limiting the matters that may be taken into account in determining the amount of compensation payable in a particular case under subsection (1), the employer making the determination must have regard to such of the following matters as are relevant in that case:
 - (a) the likely period during which the alteration, modification, aid or appliance will be required;
 - (b) any difficulties faced by the employee in gaining access to, or enjoying reasonable freedom of movement in, his or her place of residence or work;
 - (c) any difficulties faced by the employee in gaining access to, or enjoying reasonable freedom of movement in, a vehicle used by the employee;
 - (d) any alternative means of transport available to the employee;
 - (e) whether arrangements can be made for hiring the relevant aid or appliance;
 - (f) if the employee has previously received compensation under this section in respect of an alteration of his or her place of residence or a modification of a vehicle and has later disposed of that place of residence or vehicle—whether the value of that place of residence or vehicle was increased as a result of the alteration or modification.
- (3) An amount of compensation payable under this section is payable:

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

68

Compilation No. 25

Compilation date: 26/5/15

- (a) to, or in accordance with the directions of, the employee; or
- (b) if the employee dies before the compensation is paid and without having paid the cost referred to in subsection (1) and another person (not being the legal personal representative of the employee) has paid that cost—to that other person; or
- (c) if that cost has not been paid and the employee (or the legal personal representative of the employee) cannot or does not make a claim for the compensation—to the person to whom that cost is payable.
- (4) If an employer is liable to pay any cost referred to in subsection (1), any amount paid under subsection (3) to the person to whom that cost is payable is, to the extent of the payment, a discharge of the liability of the employer.

52 Duty to provide suitable employment

If an employee is undertaking, or has completed, a rehabilitation program, his or her employer must take all reasonable steps to provide the employee with suitable employment, or to assist the employee to find such employment.

Part 4—Liabilities arising apart from this Act

53 Interpretation

- (1) In this Part:
 - (a) a reference to the loss of, or damage to, property used by an employee is a reference to the loss of, or damage to, the property in circumstances referred to in section 27; and
 - (b) a reference to an employee is, if the employee has died, a reference to his or her legal personal representative; and
 - (c) a reference to a dependant of a deceased employee is, if the dependant has died, a reference to the dependant's legal personal representative; and
 - (d) a reference to an employer includes a reference to a person who:
 - (i) owns the prescribed ship; or
 - (ii) manages the prescribed ship; or
 - (iii) is chartering the prescribed ship; or
 - (iv) operates the prescribed ship.

54 Employee not to have right to bring action for damages against employer etc. in certain cases

- (1) Subject to section 55, a person does not have a right to bring an action or other proceedings against his or her employer, or an employee of the employer in respect of:
 - (a) an injury sustained by an employee in the course of his or her employment, being an injury in respect of which the employer would, apart from this subsection, be liable (whether vicariously or otherwise) for damages; or
 - (b) the loss of, or damage to, property used by an employee resulting from such an injury.
- (2) Subsection (1) applies whether that injury, loss or damage occurred before or after the commencement of this section.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

70

(3) Subsection (1) does not apply in relation to an action or proceeding instituted before the commencement of this section.

55 Actions for damages—election by employees

- (1) If:
 - (a) compensation is payable under section 39, 40 or 41 in respect of an injury to an employee; and
 - (b) the employee's employer or another employee would, apart from subsection 54(1), be liable for damages for any non-economic loss suffered by the employee because of the injury;

the employee may make an election in accordance with subsection (2) to institute an action or proceeding against the employer or other employee for damages for that non-economic loss.

- (2) An election:
 - (a) must be made before an amount of compensation is paid to an employee under section 39, 40 or 41 in respect of the injury; and
 - (b) must be given to the employer in respect of the injury; and
 - (c) must be in writing.
- (3) An election is irrevocable.
- (4) If an employee makes an election:
 - (a) subsection 54(1) does not apply in relation to an action or other proceeding subsequently instituted by the employee against the employer or another employee for damages for the non-economic loss to which the election relates; and
 - (b) compensation is not payable after the date of the election under section 39, 40 or 41 in respect of the injury.
- (5) In any action or proceeding instituted because of an election made by an employee, the court is not to award the employee damages of an amount exceeding \$138,570.52 for any non-economic loss suffered by the employee.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

71

Compilation No. 25

56 Notice of proceedings against third party

- (1) If:
 - (a) compensation is payable under this Act in respect of the death of an employee, an injury to an employee or the loss of, or damage to, property used by an employee; and
 - (b) the death, injury, loss or damage occurred in circumstances that appear to create a legal liability in a person (other than the employee's employer or another employee) to pay damages in respect of the death, injury, loss or damage; and
 - (c) the employee, or a dependant of the deceased employee, as the case may be, institutes proceedings against that person for the recovery of such damages;

the employee or dependant must notify the employer in writing of those proceedings as soon as practicable but in any event not later than 7 days after the day on which he or she first became aware that those proceedings had been instituted.

Penalty: 5 penalty units.

(2) Subsection (1) is an offence of strict liability.

Note: For *strict liability*, see section 6.1 of the *Criminal Code*.

57 Notice of proceedings against employer

(1) If:

72

- (a) compensation is payable under this Act in respect of the death of an employee or an injury to an employee; and
- (b) the employee, or a dependant of the deceased employee, as the case may be, institutes proceedings against the employee's employer or another employee for the recovery of damages in respect of the death or injury;

the employee or dependant must notify the employer in writing of those proceedings as soon as practicable but in any event not later than 7 days after the day on which he or she first became aware that those proceedings had been instituted.

Penalty: 5 penalty units.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

(2) Subsection (1) is an offence of strict liability.

Note: For *strict liability*, see section 6.1 of the *Criminal Code*.

58 Compensation not payable if damages recovered

- (1) This section applies if:
 - (a) an employee recovers damages in respect of an injury to the employee or in respect of the loss of, or damage to, property used by the employee, being an injury, loss or damage in respect of which compensation is payable under this Act; or
 - (b) damages are recovered by, or for the benefit of, a dependant of a deceased employee in respect of the death of the employee and compensation is payable under this Act in respect of the injury that resulted in that death.
- (2) The employee or dependant must, not later than 28 days after the day on which the damages were recovered, notify the employer in writing of the recovery of the damages and the amount of the damages.

Penalty: 10 penalty units.

(2A) Subsection (2) is an offence of strict liability.

Note: For *strict liability*, see section 6.1 of the *Criminal Code*.

- (3) If, before the recovery of the damages by, or for the benefit of, the employee or dependant, any compensation under this Act was paid to the employee in respect of the injury, loss or damage, or to, or for the benefit of, the dependant in respect of the injury that resulted in the death of the employee, as the case may be, the employee or dependant is liable to pay to the employer an amount equal to:
 - (a) the amount of that compensation; or
 - (b) the amount of the damages;

whichever is less.

(4) Compensation is not payable under this Act to the employee in respect of the injury, loss or damage, or to, or for the benefit of, the

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

73

Compilation No. 25

- dependant in respect of the injury that resulted in the death of the employee, after the date on which the damages were recovered by the employee or by, or for the benefit of, the dependant, as the case may be.
- (5) Subsection (3) does not apply if the damages were recovered in proceedings instituted by the employee as a result of an election by the employee under section 55, or by way of a settlement of such proceedings.
- (6) Subsection (4) does not apply if the damages were recovered:
 - (a) as a result of proceedings, or fresh proceedings, instituted by the employer under section 59; or
 - (b) as a result of proceedings the conduct of which is taken over by the employer under that section; or
 - (c) as a result of proceedings instituted by the employee as a result of an election by the employee under section 55; or
 - (d) by way of settlement of those proceedings.
- (7) A reference in subsection (3) to compensation under this Act that was paid for the benefit of a dependant does not include a reference to compensation paid under subsection 29(5).
- (8) If an employee, or a dependant of an employee, establishes to the satisfaction of the employer that a part of the damages referred to in subsection (1) did not relate to an injury, loss or damage in respect of which compensation is payable under this Act, subsection (3) applies in relation to that employee or dependant as if the amount of the damages were an amount equal to so much of the amount of the damages as did relate to an injury, loss or damage in respect of which compensation is payable under this Act.

59 Proceedings against third parties

- (1) Subject to subsection (1A), this section applies if:
 - (a) an amount of compensation under this Act:

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

74

- (i) is paid to an employee in respect of an injury to the employee or in respect of the loss of, or damage to, property used by the employee; or
- (ii) is paid for the benefit of a dependant of a deceased employee in respect of an injury that resulted in the death of the employee; and
- (b) the injury, loss, damage or death occurred in circumstances that appear to create a legal liability in a person to pay damages in respect of the injury, loss, damage or death.
- (1A) A reference in subsection (1) to compensation paid for the benefit of a dependant under this Act does not include a reference to compensation paid under subsection 29(5).
 - (2) If:
 - (a) this section applies; and
 - (b) the employee or dependant consents, in writing, to the employer instituting proceedings, or taking over the conduct of proceedings against the person, for the purposes of recovering the damages in respect of the injury, loss, damage or death;

the employer may institute proceedings or fresh proceedings against the person in the name of the employee or dependant for the recovery of damages in respect of the injury, loss, damage or death or may take over the conduct of the proceedings, as the case requires.

- (3) If:
 - (a) this section applies; and
 - (b) the employee or dependant does not consent to the employer instituting proceedings, or taking over the conduct of proceedings against the person, for the purposes of recovering the damages in respect of the injury, loss, damage or death; and
 - (c) proceedings against the person for the purpose of recovering such damages:

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

75

- (i) have not been instituted by the employee or by or for the benefit of the dependant and the delay in instituting the proceedings is unreasonable; or
- (ii) have been so instituted but have not been properly prosecuted;

the employer may institute proceedings or fresh proceedings against the person in the name of the employee or dependant for the recovery of damages in respect of the injury, loss, damage or death or may take over the conduct of the proceedings, as the case requires.

- (4) If the employer institutes proceedings or fresh proceedings or takes over the conduct of proceedings under subsection (2) or (3) the employer must conduct the proceedings in the interests of the person in whose name the proceedings were instituted.
- (5) The employer is liable to pay all costs of, or incidental to, any proceedings taken over by it, being costs payable by the plaintiff in those proceedings, other than those costs unreasonably incurred by the plaintiff.
- (6) If the employer institutes, or takes over the conduct of, proceedings under this section, the employer may:
 - (a) subject to subsection (7), settle the proceedings, either with or without obtaining judgment; and
 - (b) if a judgment is obtained in the proceedings in favour of the plaintiff—take such steps as are necessary to enforce the judgment.
- (7) The employer may only settle the proceedings:
 - (a) with the written consent of the employee or dependant in whose name the proceedings were instituted; or
 - (b) without the consent of the employee or dependant in whose name the proceedings were instituted if the employee or dependant withholds consent unreasonably.
- (8) Subject to subsection (7), if the employer requires the employee or dependant to sign any document relevant to proceedings instituted or taken over by the employer under this section (including the

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

76

Compilation No. 25

Compilation date: 26/5/15

- settlement of the proceedings), the employee or dependant must sign it and, if he or she fails to do so, the court or tribunal in which the proceedings are taken may direct that the document may be signed on his or her behalf by a person appointed by the employer for the purpose.
- (9) If the employer institutes, or takes over the conduct of, proceedings under this section, the employee or dependant must comply with any reasonable requirement of the employer for the purpose of the proceedings and, if the employee or dependant fails do so, the right of the employee or dependant to compensation under this Act in respect of the injury, loss, damage or death to which the proceedings relate is suspended until such time as the employee or dependant complies with that requirement.
- (10) If a right to compensation is suspended under subsection (9), compensation is not payable in respect of the period of the suspension.
- (11) Any damages awarded under a judgment obtained in proceedings referred to in this section, or payable as a result of the settlement of such proceedings, must be paid to the employer and the employer must deduct from the amount of those damages:
 - (a) an amount equal to the total of all amounts of compensation paid to the employee or dependant under this Act in respect of the injury, loss, damage or death to which the proceedings relate: and
 - (b) the amount of any costs of or incidental to those proceedings paid by the employer;
 - and must pay the balance (if any) to the employee or dependant.
- (12) If the employer pays an amount to an employee or dependant under subsection (11), the employee or dependant is not entitled to receive any further amounts of compensation under this Act in respect of the injury, loss, damage or death to which the proceedings related until the amount of compensation that would, apart from this subsection, have been payable to the employee or dependant in respect of the injury, loss, damage or death equals the

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

77

Section 60

amount paid by the employer to the employee or dependant under subsection (11).

(13) In this section:

person does not include the employer or an employee.

60 Payment of damages by persons to employer

- (1) If a person appears to be liable:
 - (a) to pay damages to an employee in respect of an injury to the employee, or in respect of the loss of, or damage to, property used by the employee, being an injury, loss or damage in respect of which an amount of compensation has been paid under this Act; or
 - (b) to pay damages to a dependant of a deceased employee in respect of the death of the employee, if that death resulted from an injury in respect of which an amount of compensation has been paid under this Act;

the employer may, by notice in writing given to the person, require that:

- (c) if the person agrees to pay damages to the employee in respect of the injury, loss or damage or to the dependant in respect of the death; or
- (d) if damages against the person are awarded to the employee in the proceedings instituted in respect of the injury, loss or damage, or to the dependant in proceedings instituted in respect of the death;

the person pay to the employer so much of the amount of the damages as does not exceed the amount that would be payable by the employee or dependant to the employer under section 58 if the damages had been paid to the employee or dependant.

- (2) Subject to subsection (3), if:
 - (a) a person has agreed:
 - (i) to pay damages to an employee in respect of an injury to the employee, or in respect of the loss of, or damage to, property used by the employee, being an injury, loss or

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

78

- damage in respect of which an amount of compensation has been paid under this Act; or
- (ii) to pay damages to a dependant of a deceased employee in respect of the death of the employee, if that death resulted from an injury in respect of which an amount of compensation has been paid under this Act; or
- (b) damages against a person have been awarded:
 - (i) to an employee in proceedings instituted in respect of an injury to the employee or in respect of the loss of, or damage to, property used by the employee, being an injury, loss or damage in respect of which an amount of compensation has been paid under this Act; or
 - (ii) to a dependant of a deceased employee in proceedings instituted in respect of the death of the employee, if that death resulted from an injury in respect of which an amount of compensation has been paid under this Act;

the employer may, by notice in writing given to the person, require the person to pay to the employer so much of the amount of the damages as does not exceed the amount that would have been payable by the employee or dependant to the employer under section 58 if the damages had been paid to or in respect of the employee or dependant.

- (3) If, before a notice under subsection (2) was received by a person, the person had paid to or in respect of the employee or dependant, all or part of the damages to which the notice related:
 - (a) if all of the damages had been paid—the notice has no force or effect; or
 - (b) if part only of the damages had been paid—the reference in that subsection to the amount of the damages is to be read as a reference to so much of that amount as had not been paid.
- (4) If a person fails to pay an amount to the employer in accordance with a notice under this section, the employer may recover that amount from the person as a debt due to the employer.
- (5) Payment of an amount to the employer by a person in accordance with a notice under this section is, to the extent of the amount paid,

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

79

Compilation No. 25

Section 61

a discharge of the liability of that person to the employee or dependant and of the liability (if any) of the employee or dependant to the employer under section 58.

(6) In this section:

person does not include the employer or an employee.

61 Compensation not payable both under Act and under award

- (1) A person who would, apart from this section, be entitled to compensation under this Act and benefits under an award in respect of the same injury, or in respect of the same loss of, or damage to, property, is not entitled to both but must elect whether to receive the compensation or the benefits.
- (2) An election made by an employee is irrevocable.
- (3) If an employee makes an election to receive either compensation under this Act or benefits under the award but compensation is not payable under this Act, or benefits are not payable under the award, as the case may be, in respect of the injury, or the loss of, or damage to, property, the election has no effect.
- (4) If an employee has made an election to receive compensation under this Act, that compensation is not payable unless the employee makes a claim under section 63.
- (5) If an employee who has made an election dies, the election does not have effect in relation to his or her dependants.
- (6) In this section:

award means an award, determination, order or agreement by which provision is made for, or in relation to, the grant of any benefits to or in relation to employees or their dependants in respect of injury or disease causing death or incapacity, or in respect of the loss of, or damage to, property, in circumstances connected with the employment of those employees, being an

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

80

Compilation No. 25

Compilation date: 26/5/15

award, determination or order made, or agreement entered into, under a law of the Commonwealth relating to workplace relations.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

81

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

Part 5—Notices and claims

62 Notice of injury or loss of, or damage to, property

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), this Act does not apply to an injury suffered by an employee unless a written notice of the injury is given to the employer:
 - (a) as soon as practicable after the employee becomes aware of the injury; or
 - (b) if the employee dies without having become so aware or before it is practicable to serve such a notice—as soon as practicable after the employee's death.
- (2) This Act does not apply in relation to the loss of, or damage to, property used by an employee, being loss or damage caused in circumstances referred to in section 27, unless a written notice of the accident that resulted in the loss or damage is given to the employer:
 - (a) as soon as practicable after the employee becomes aware that the accident had resulted in the loss or damage; or
 - (b) if the employee dies without having become so aware or before it is practicable to serve such a notice—as soon as practicable after the employee's death.
- (3) For the purposes of subsections (1) and (2), if the injury was suffered by an employee on a prescribed ship, a notice given to the master of the ship is taken to be given to the employer.
- (4) If:
 - (a) a written notice, purporting to be a notice under this section, has been given to an employer; and
 - (b) the notice, or the giving of the notice, does not comply with this section;

the notice is taken to have been given under this section if:

(c) the employer to whom it was given would not thereby be prejudiced; or

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

82

Compilation date: 26/5/15

(d) the non-compliance resulted from the death, or absence from Australia, of a person, or from ignorance, or mistake, or any other reasonable cause.

63 Claims for compensation

- (1) Compensation is not payable to a person under this Act unless a claim for compensation is made by or on behalf of the person under this section.
- (2) A claim must be made by giving the employer:
 - (a) a written claim, in accordance with a form approved by the Authority for the purposes of this paragraph; and
 - (b) except where the claim is for compensation under section 28, 29 or 30—a certificate by a legally qualified medical practitioner in accordance with the form approved by the Authority for the purposes of this paragraph; and
 - (c) a notice setting out:
 - (i) the name and address of any other employer who has been given, or to whom it is intended to give, a claim under paragraph (2)(a) in relation to the injury; and
 - (ii) the name and address of any other employer whose employment is believed to have materially contributed to the injury.
- (3) If a written claim (other than a claim for compensation under section 28, 29 or 30) is given to a person under paragraph (2)(a) and the claim is not accompanied by a certificate of the kind referred to in paragraph (2)(b), the claim is taken not to have been made until such a certificate is given to that employer.
- (4) Strict compliance with an approved form referred to in subsection (2) is not required and substantial compliance is sufficient.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

83

ComLaw Authoritative Act C2015C00246

64 Survival of claims

- (1) If a person who is entitled to make a claim for compensation under this Act dies without making a claim, a claim may be made by the person's legal personal representative.
- (2) A claim is not affected by the death of the claimant after the claim was served.
- (3) Section 134 applies to an amount payable under a determination made in respect of a claim referred to in this section as if the deceased person had died after the determination was made.
- (4) This section does not apply to a claim for compensation under section 41.

65 Claims may not be made in certain cases

If an amount is paid for the benefit of a dependant of a deceased employee under subsection 29(3) or (4), no other dependant of that employee is entitled to claim compensation under either of those subsections after the day on which that amount is so paid.

66 Power to require medical examination

- (1) If:
 - (a) a notice has been given under section 62 in relation to an injury to an employee; or
 - (b) an employee has made a claim for compensation under section 63:

the employer to whom the notice of claim is given may require the employee to undergo an examination by a legally qualified medical practitioner nominated by the employer.

(1A) An employee must not be required to be examined by more than one legally qualified medical practitioner in any examination that the employee is required to undergo under subsection (1).

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

84

- (2) If an employee, without reasonable excuse, does not undergo an examination, or in any way obstructs an examination, the employee's rights to compensation under this Act, and to institute or continue any proceedings under this Act in relation to compensation, are suspended until the examination takes place.
- (3) If an employee's right to compensation is suspended under subsection (2), compensation is not payable in respect of the period of the suspension.
- (4) Subject to subsection (4D), an employer who requires an employee to undergo an examination under this section must pay the cost of the examination and is liable to pay to the employee:
 - (a) an amount equal to the expenditure reasonably incurred by the employee in making a journey, necessary in connection with the examination, from the place in Australia where the employee is residing to the place where the examination is to be made; and
 - (b) an amount equal to the expenditure reasonably incurred by the employee in remaining (if necessary), for the purpose of the examination, at a place to which the employee has made a journey for that purpose.
- (4A) If the journey referred to in paragraph (4)(a) is made by means of public transport or ambulance services, the expenditure referred to in that paragraph is taken to be an amount equal to the expenditure reasonably incurred in undertaking the journey.
- (4B) If the journey referred to in paragraph (4)(a) is made by means of a private motor vehicle, the expenditure referred to in that paragraph is taken to be the amount worked out using the formula:

Specified rate per kilometre \times Number of kilometres travelled where:

specified rate per kilometre means such rate per kilometre as the Minister specifies, by legislative instrument, under this subsection in respect of journeys to which this subsection applies.

ComLaw Authoritative Act C2015C00246

- **number of kilometres travelled** means the number of whole kilometres that the employer determines to have been the reasonable length of such a journey (including the return part of the journey).
- (4C) If the place where the employee is residing is not the place where the employee normally resides, the amount payable in respect of the journey is not to exceed the amount that would be payable if the journey were made from the place where the employee normally resides.
- (4D) An employer is not required to pay an amount to an employee under subsection (4) unless:
 - (a) in relation to a journey to which subsection (4A) applies the employee's injury reasonably required the use of public transport or ambulance services (as the case may be) regardless of the distance involved; or
 - (b) in relation to a journey to which subsection (4B) applies—the reasonable length of such a journey exceeded 50 kilometres.
 - (5) In deciding questions arising under subsections (4), (4A), (4B), (4C) and (4D), the employer must have regard to the following matters:
 - (a) the means of transport available to the employee for the journey;
 - (b) the route or routes by which the employee could have travelled:
 - (c) the accommodation available to the employee.
 - (6) An employee must not be required to undergo an examination under this section at more frequent intervals than are specified by the Minister by legislative instrument.

67 Power to request the provision of information relevant to claim

(1) Subject to section 69, if an employer who has been given a claim is satisfied that the claimant:

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

86

Compilation No. 25

Compilation date: 26/5/15

- (a) has information or a document that is relevant to the claim; or
- (b) may obtain such information, or such a document or a copy of such a document, without unreasonable expense or inconvenience;

the employer may, by written notice given to the claimant, ask the claimant to give to the employer:

- (c) the information, or the document or a copy of the document; or
- (d) if paragraph (b) applies—a written authority to obtain the information or the document or a copy of the document.
- (2) A claimant who has received a notice under subsection (1) is taken to have complied with the notice if the claimant gives the employer the information, the document or a copy of the document, or the authority, referred to in the notice.
- (3) If a claimant, without reasonable excuse, does not comply with a notice under subsection (1), the employer may refuse to deal with the claim until the claimant gives the employer the information or the document or a copy of the document, or the authority, referred to in the notice.

68 Certain documents to be supplied on request

(1) Subject to section 69, an employer must not fail to comply with a written request by a claimant for the employer to give the claimant any documents held by the employer that relate to the claimant's claim.

Penalty: 50 penalty units.

(1A) Subsection (1) is an offence of strict liability.

Note: For *strict liability*, see section 6.1 of the *Criminal Code*.

(1B) Subsection (1) does not apply if the person has a reasonable excuse.

Note:

A defendant bears an evidential burden in relation to the matter in subsection (1B) (see subsection 13.3(3) of the *Criminal Code*).

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

87

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

Section 69

- (2) This section also applies to the determination of a request under section 40, and for that purpose:
 - (a) a reference to a claim is to be read as a reference to the request under that section; and
 - (b) a reference to the claimant is to be read as a reference to the person who made the request.

69 Neither section 67 nor 68 to affect legal professional privilege

Subject to section 70, neither section 67 nor 68 affects legal professional privilege.

70 Legal professional privilege not to apply to medical reports

Legal professional privilege does not apply in relation to a medical report in respect of an injury in relation to which an employee is claiming compensation under this Act.

71 Bankruptcy etc. of actual employer

- (1) If:
 - (a) a claim in respect of an injury to an employee or in respect of the loss of, or damage to, property used by the employee, has been made under section 63; and
 - (b) the Fund has become the employer of the employee because of subsection 4(3);

then:

- (c) the claimant must give the Fund:
 - (i) a copy of any notices given to the actual employer in respect of the claim; or
 - (ii) new notices in respect of the claim; and
- (d) section 72, 73 or 73A applies as if the claim was given to the Fund on the day when:
 - (i) the copy of the claim was given to the Fund under subparagraph (1)(c)(i); or
 - (ii) a new claim notice was given to the Fund under subparagraph (1)(c)(ii).

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

88

- (2) If:
 - (a) paragraph (1)(b) applies; and
 - (b) the actual employer has given a notice to the claimant under section 67; and
 - (c) the claimant has not given the information to the actual employer;

then the claimant must give the information to the Fund.

72 Time limit for determining claims relating to death

- (1) An employer must determine its liability in relation to a claim for compensation under Division 2 of Part 2 by the later of the following times:
 - (a) the end of the period of 60 days after the day on which the employer receives the claim;
 - (b) if, at the written request of the employer, the Authority, by written notice served on the employer, allows a further period or further periods for the determination of the liability—the end of that period or those periods, as the case may be.
- (2) If the employer, by notice under section 67 given to the claimant within the period referred to in paragraph (1)(a), requests the claimant to give information or a document or a copy of a document, or an authority to obtain information or a document or a copy of a document, that period is increased by the number of days occurring after the day on which the request was made and before the day on which the employer receives the information, the document or copy of the document or the authority, as the case may be.
- (3) A request under paragraph (1)(b) must state fully and in detail the circumstances concerning, and the reasons for, the employer's request for the Authority to allow a longer period.
- (4) A notice under paragraph (1)(b) does not have any effect unless it is served on the employer before the end of the period by which, apart from the notice, the employer would be required to determine

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

89

Section 73

- the liability (including any period previously allowed under that paragraph).
- (5) If the employer has not determined the claim by the end of the period allowed by this section, the employer is taken to have made a decision, at the end of that period, disallowing the claim.

73 Time limit for determining claims relating to incapacity for work, loss of or damage to property or cost of medical treatment

- (1) This section applies to a claim for compensation relating to:
 - (a) an injury resulting in an employee being incapacitated for work; or
 - (b) the loss of, or damage to, property used by an employee; or
 - (c) the cost of medical treatment for an injury suffered by an employee.
- (2) The employee's employer must determine its liability in relation to the claim by the latest of the following times:
 - (a) the end of the period of 12 days after the day on which the employer receives the claim;
 - (b) if the employer, by notice under section 67 given to the claimant within the period referred to in paragraph (a), requests the claimant to give information or a document or a copy of a document, or an authority to obtain information or a document or a copy of a document—the end of the period of 12 days after the employer receives the information, the document or copy of the document or the authority, as the case may be;
 - (c) if, at the written request of the employer, the Authority, by written notice served on the employer, allows a further period or further periods for the determination of the liability—the end of that period or those periods, as the case may be.
- (3) A request under paragraph (2)(c) must state fully and in detail the circumstances concerning, and the reasons for, the employer's request for the Authority to allow a longer period.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

90

- (4) A notice under paragraph (2)(c) does not have any effect unless it is served on the employer before the end of the period by which, apart from the notice, the employer would be required to determine the liability (including any period previously allowed under that paragraph).
- (5) If the claim is for compensation relating to an injury resulting in the employee being incapacitated for work, compensation is payable in respect of the claim for the incapacity from and including the day on which liability arose under section 31.
- (6) If the employer has not determined the claim by the end of the period allowed by this section, the employer is taken to have made a decision, at the end of that period, disallowing the claim.

73A Time limit for determining claims relating to permanent impairment

- (1) If a claim for compensation relates to an injury resulting in permanent impairment to an employee, the employee's employer must determine its liability in relation to the claim by the later of the following times:
 - (a) the end of the period of 30 days after the day on which the employer receives the claim;
 - (b) if, at the written request of the employer, the Authority, by written notice served on the employer, allows a further period or further periods for the determination of the liability—the end of that period or those periods, as the case may be.
- (2) If the employer, by notice under section 67 given to the claimant within the period referred to in paragraph (1)(a), requests the claimant to give information or a document or a copy of a document, or an authority to obtain information or a document or a copy of a document, that period is increased by the number of days occurring after the day on which the request was made and before the day on which the employer receives the information, the document or copy of the document or the authority, as the case may be.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

91

Compilation No. 25

Section 74

- (3) A request under paragraph (1)(b) must state fully and in detail the circumstances concerning, and the reasons for, the employer's request for the Authority to allow a longer period.
- (4) A notice under paragraph (1)(b) does not have any effect unless it is served on the employer before the end of the period by which, apart from the notice, the employer would be required to determine the liability (including any period previously allowed under that paragraph).
- (5) If the injury under subsection (1) results in permanent impairment to the employee, compensation is payable in respect of the claim for the impairment in accordance with section 39 or 40.
- (6) If the employer has not determined the claim by the end of the period allowed by this section, the employer is taken to have made a decision, at the end of that period, disallowing the claim.

74 Employer may seek review of Authority's decision

If an employer is dissatisfied with a decision of the Authority under paragraph 72(1)(b), 73(2)(c) or 73A(1)(b), the employer may apply to the AAT for review of the decision.

75 Sections 72 to 74 (inclusive) not to apply to Authority if declaration made under section 100

If a declaration is made under section 100, sections 72 to 74 (inclusive) do not apply to the Authority.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

92

Compilation No. 25

Compilation date: 26/5/15

Part 6—Reconsideration of determinations and review of decisions by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal

Division 1—Definitions

76 Interpretation

(1) In this Part:

AAT Act means the Administrative Appeals Tribunal Act 1975.

AAT extension application means an application under subsection 29(7) of the AAT Act that relates to a review of a reviewable decision or an extension of time decision.

claimant means a person in respect of whom a determination is made.

decision has the same meaning as in the AAT Act.

determination means a determination, decision or requirement made by the employer under section 13, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 39, 40, 41, 43, 44, 45, 49, 50, 51, 66 or 126.

extension of time decision means a decision of the Authority under paragraph 72(1)(b), 73(2)(c) or 73A(1)(b).

reviewable decision means a decision made under section 78.

- (2) For the purposes of this Part, the parties to proceedings instituted under this Part are:
 - (a) the applicant; and
 - (b) where the applicant is not the claimant—the claimant; and
 - (c) the employer.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

93

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

Division 2—Reconsideration of determinations by employers

77 Determinations to be notified in writing

- (1) As soon as practicable after an employer makes a determination, the employer must cause to be served on the claimant a notice in writing setting out:
 - (a) the terms of the determination; and
 - (b) the reasons for the determination; and
 - (c) a statement to the effect that the claimant may, if dissatisfied with the determination, request a reconsideration of the determination under subsection 78(2).
- (2) This section does not apply in relation to a determination under subsection 28(1) that compensation of an amount equal to the full amount of the cost of medical treatment obtained by an employee is payable if that amount of compensation is payable to a person other than the employee.

78 Reconsiderations of determinations

- (1) An employer may, on the employer's own initiative, reconsider a determination made by the employer, whether or not a proceeding has been instituted or completed under this Part in respect of a reviewable decision made in relation to that determination.
- (2) A claimant may, by notice in writing given to an employer, request the employer to reconsider a determination made by the employer.
- (3) A request for reconsideration of a determination must:
 - (a) set out the reasons for the request; and
 - (b) be given to the employer within 30 days after the day on which the determination first came to the notice of the claimant, or within such further period (if any) as the

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

94

Compilation date: 26/5/15

employer, either before or after the end of that 30 day period, allows.

- (4) On receipt of a request, the employer must for the purposes of this section:
 - (a) if the employer is a party to a collective agreement or a pre-reform certified agreement that relates to industry panels—arrange for an industry panel; or
 - (b) in any other case—arrange with Comcare for a Comcare officer;

to assist the employer in reconsidering the determination under subsection (5).

- (5) After making arrangements under paragraph (4)(a) or (b), the employer must, with the assistance of the industry panel or the Comcare officer, reconsider the determination.
- (6) After an employer reconsiders a determination, the employer must make a decision affirming or revoking the determination or varying the determination in such manner as the employer thinks fit.
- (7) In this section:

industry panel means an industry panel established under an industrial agreement for the purposes of assisting the employer in reconsidering a determination under this section.

79 Time limit for reconsideration of determinations

- (1) If a claimant requests an employer to reconsider a determination made by the employer, the employer must reconsider the determination before the later of the following times:
 - (a) the end of the period of 60 days after the employer receives the request;
 - (b) if, at the written request of the employer, the Authority, by written notice served on the employer, allows a further period or further periods for the determination of the liability—the end of that period or those periods, as the case may be.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

95

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

Part 6 Reconsideration of determinations and review of decisions by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal

Division 2 Reconsideration of determinations by employers

Section 79

- (2) If the employer, by notice under section 83 given to the claimant within the period referred to in paragraph (1)(a) (or, if that period has been increased under subsection (3), within that period as so increased), requests the claimant to give information or a document or a copy of a document, or an authority to obtain information or a document or a copy of a document, that period is increased or further increased, as the case may be, by the number of days occurring after the day on which the request was made and before the day on which the employer receives the information, the document or copy of the document or the authority, as the case may be.
- (3) If the employer, by notice under section 83A given to the claimant within the period referred to in paragraph (1)(a) (or, if that period has been previously increased under subsection (2), within that period as so previously increased), requires the employee to undergo an examination by a medical practitioner and requires the claimant to give the employer the report by the medical practitioner of the results of the examination, that period is increased, or that period as so previously increased is further increased, as the case may be, by the number of days occurring after the day on which the request was made and before the day on which the employer receives the report.
- (4) A request under paragraph (1)(b) must state fully and in detail the circumstances concerning, and the reasons for, the employer's request for the Authority to allow a longer period.
- (5) A notice under paragraph (1)(b) does not have any effect unless it is served on the employer before the end of the period by which, apart from the notice, the employer would be required to reconsider the determination (including any period previously allowed under that paragraph).
- (6) If the employer has not determined the claim by the end of the period allowed by this section, the employer is taken to have made a decision, at the end of that period, disallowing the claim.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

96

Compilation date: 26/5/15

80 Employer may seek review of Authority's decision

If an employer is dissatisfied with a decision of the Authority under paragraph 79(1)(b), the employer may apply to the AAT for review of the decision.

81 Sections 79 and 80 not to apply to Authority if declaration made under section 100

If a declaration is made under section 100, sections 79 and 80 do not apply to the Authority.

82 Industry panel or Comcare to give copy of report to employer to claimant

The industry panel or Comcare, as the case requires, must give a copy of any report it gives to an employer in relation to the reconsideration of a determination under subsection 78(5) to the claimant.

83 Power to request the provision of information relevant to reconsideration

- (1) Subject to section 84, if:
 - (a) a claimant has requested the employer to reconsider a determination under subsection 78(2); and
 - (b) the employer is satisfied that the claimant:
 - (i) has information or a document that is relevant to the claim; or
 - (ii) may obtain such information or a copy of such a document without unreasonable expense or inconvenience:

the employer may, by written notice given to the claimant, ask the claimant to give to the employer:

(c) the information, or the document or a copy of the document; or

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

97

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

Part 6 Reconsideration of determinations and review of decisions by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal

Division 2 Reconsideration of determinations by employers

Section 83A

- (d) if subparagraph (b)(ii) applies—a written authority to obtain the information or the document or a copy of the document.
- (2) A claimant who has received a notice under subsection (1) is taken to have complied with the notice if the claimant gives the employer the information, the document or a copy of the document, or the authority, referred to in the notice.
- (3) If a claimant, without reasonable excuse, does not comply with a notice under subsection (1), the employer may refuse to reconsider a determination under subsection 78(2) until the claimant gives the employer the information, or the document or a copy of the document, or the authority, referred to in the notice.

83A Power to request employee to undergo medical examination

- (1) If a claimant has requested the employer to reconsider a determination under subsection 78(2), the employer may, by written notice given to the claimant, require:
 - (a) the employee to undergo, within a reasonable period set out in the notice, an examination by a legally qualified medical practitioner nominated by the employer; and
 - (b) the claimant to give the employer a report by the medical practitioner of the results of the examination.
- (2) An employee must not be required to be examined by more than one legally qualified medical practitioner in any examination that the employee is required to undergo under subsection (1).
- (3) Subject to subsection (7), an employer who requires an employee to undergo an examination under this section must pay the cost of the examination and is liable to pay to the employee:
 - (a) an amount equal to the expenditure reasonably incurred by the employee in making a journey, necessary in connection with the examination, from the place in Australia where the employee is residing to the place where the examination is to be made; and

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

98

- (b) an amount equal to the expenditure reasonably incurred by the employee in remaining (if necessary), for the purpose of the examination, at a place to which the employee has made a journey for that purpose.
- (4) If the journey referred to in paragraph (3)(a) is made by means of public transport or ambulance service, the expenditure referred to in that paragraph is taken to be an amount equal to the expenditure reasonably incurred in undertaking the journey.
- (5) If the journey referred to in paragraph (3)(a) is made by means of a private motor vehicle, the expenditure referred to in that paragraph is taken to be the amount worked out using the formula:

Specified rate per kilometre \times Number of kilometres travelled where:

specified rate per kilometre means such rate per kilometre as the Minister specifies, by legislative instrument, under this subsection in respect of journeys to which this subsection applies.

number of kilometres travelled means the number of whole kilometres that the employer determines to have been the reasonable length of such a journey (including the return part of the journey).

- (6) If the place where the employee is residing is not the place where the employee normally resides, the amount payable in respect of the journey is not to exceed the amount that would be payable if the journey were made from the place where the employee normally resides.
- (7) An employer is not required to pay an amount to an employee under subsection (3) unless:
 - (a) in relation to a journey to which subsection (4) applies—the employee's injury reasonably required the use of public transport or ambulance services (as the case may be) regardless of the distance involved; or

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

99

Part 6 Reconsideration of determinations and review of decisions by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal

Division 2 Reconsideration of determinations by employers

Section 84

- (b) in relation to a journey to which subsection (5) applies—the reasonable length of such a journey exceeded 50 kilometres.
- (8) In deciding questions arising under subsections (3), (4), (5), (6) and (7), the employer making the decision must have regard to the following matters:
 - (a) the means of transport available to the employee for the journey;
 - (b) the route or routes by which the employee could have travelled;
 - (c) the accommodation available to the employee.
- (9) An employee must not be required to undergo an examination under this section at more frequent intervals than are stated by the Minister by legislative instrument.
- (10) If the employer does not receive a report by the medical practitioner of the results of the examination of the employee, the employer may refuse to reconsider the determination under section 78 until the employer receives the report.

84 Section 83 not to affect legal professional privilege

Subject to section 85, section 83 does not affect legal professional privilege.

85 Legal professional privilege not to apply to medical reports

Legal professional privilege does not apply in relation to a medical report in respect of an injury in relation to which an employee is claiming compensation under this Act.

86 Bankruptcy etc. of employer

(1) If:

100

(a) a claimant has given a notice under subsection 78(2) to the actual employer within the period specified in subsection 78(3); and

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15 Registered: 29/5/15

(b) the Fund has become the employer because of subsection 4(3);

then:

- (c) the claimant must give the Fund:
 - (i) a copy of the notice given to the actual employer; or
 - (ii) a new notice under subsection 78(2); and
- (d) section 72, 73 or 73A applies as if the notice was given to the Fund on the day when:
 - (i) a copy of the notice was given to the Fund under subparagraph (1)(c)(i); or
 - (ii) a new notice was given to the Fund under subparagraph (1)(c)(ii); and
- (e) subsection 78(3) does not apply.
- (2) If:
 - (a) paragraph (1)(b) applies; and
 - (b) the actual employer has given a notice to the claimant under section 83; and
 - (c) the claimant has not given the information to the actual employer;

the claimant must give the information to the Fund.

87 Reviewable decision to be notified in writing

As soon as practicable after the employer makes a reviewable decision, the employer must cause to be served on the claimant a notice in writing setting out:

- (a) the terms of the decision; and
- (b) the reasons for the decision; and
- (c) a statement to the effect that, subject to the AAT Act, application may be made to the AAT for review of the decision to which the notice relates.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

101

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

Part 6 Reconsideration of determinations and review of decisions by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal

Division 2 Reconsideration of determinations by employers

Section 88

88 Applications to the AAT

- (1) Application may be made to the AAT by a claimant for review of a reviewable decision.
- (2) Despite section 27 of the AAT Act, no person other than the claimant may make an application under subsection (1).

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15

102

Division 3—AAT review of reviewable decisions and extension of time decisions

89 Modified AAT Act to apply

- (1) The AAT Act applies in relation to:
 - (a) the review of reviewable decisions; and
 - (b) the review of extension of time decisions; and
 - (c) AAT extension applications; subject to the modifications set out in this section.
- (2) Section 20A of the AAT Act has effect as if the reference to any place in Australia or an external Territory were a reference to any place, whether within or outside Australia.
- (3) Subsection 29(2) of the AAT Act has effect as if the reference to "the twenty-eighth day" (first occurring) were a reference to "the sixtieth day".
- (4) If:
 - (a) the AAT has not made a decision under section 43 of the AAT Act; and
 - (b) the Fund has become the employer of an employee because of subsection 4(3);

then:

- (c) subsection 28(1) and paragraph 30(1)(b) of the AAT Act have effect as if a reference to the person who made the decision were a reference to the Fund; and
- (d) the AAT must:
 - (i) if the AAT has begun hearing the proceedings but not completed the hearing of the proceedings—adjourn the proceedings for a period of at least 28 days beginning on the day the AAT becomes aware of the default event in relation to the actual employer; and

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

103

Part 6 Reconsideration of determinations and review of decisions by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal

Division 3 AAT review of reviewable decisions and extension of time decisions

Section 90

(ii) if the AAT has not begun hearing the proceedings—not begin hearing the matter for a period of at least 28 days beginning on the day the AAT becomes aware of the default event in relation to the actual employer.

90 Evidence in proceedings before AAT

- (1) If:
 - (a) a claimant who has instituted proceedings under this Part seeks to adduce any matter in evidence before the AAT in those proceedings; and
 - (b) the claimant has not disclosed that matter to the AAT at least 28 days before the day fixed for the hearing of those proceedings;

that matter is not admissible in evidence in those proceedings without the leave of the AAT.

- (2) If:
 - (a) an employer has determined a claim and, before doing so, gave the claimant a notice under section 67 or 83 requesting the claimant to give the employer the information, the document or a copy of the document, or the authority, referred to in the notice; and
 - (b) the claimant failed to comply with the notice; and
 - (c) the claimant had the information, document or copy, or could have obtained the information, document or copy without unreasonable expense or inconvenience before the determination was made;

the information, document or copy is not, without leave of the AAT, admissible in proceedings instituted under this Part in relation to the determination.

(2A) If:

(a) an employer has determined a claim and, before doing so, gave the claimant a notice under section 83A requiring the employee to undergo an examination by a legally qualified medical practitioner and requiring the claimant to give the

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

104

Compilation date: 26/5/15

- employer a report by the medical practitioner of the results of the examination; and
- (b) the claimant failed to give the employer the report; a report by the medical practitioner of the results of the examination is not, without leave of the AAT, admissible in proceedings instituted under this Part in relation to the determination.
- (3) The AAT must not give leave under subsection (2) or (2A) unless:
 - (a) the claimant provides a statement of reasons why he or she failed to comply with a notice under section 67 or 83 or failed to give the report to the employer; and
 - (b) the AAT is satisfied that there are special circumstances justifying the admission of the information, document or copy, or the admission of the report, in evidence.

91 Costs of proceedings before AAT—general

- (1) Subject to this section, the costs incurred by a party to proceedings instituted under this Part in respect of that reviewable decision are to be borne by that party.
- (2) Subject to this section, if proceedings instituted under this Part in respect of a reviewable decision relating to a determination are rendered abortive because a decision has been made, following a reconsideration under subsection 78(1), varying or revoking that determination, the employer is liable to reimburse the claimant for costs reasonably incurred by the claimant in connection with that proceeding.
- (3) If:
 - (a) an employer has determined a claim (*original determination*); and
 - (b) the employer, before making the original determination, gave the claimant a notice under section 67 or 83 requesting the claimant to give the employer the information (the *relevant information*) referred to in the notice or an authority to obtain the relevant information; and

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

105

Part 6 Reconsideration of determinations and review of decisions by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal

Division 3 AAT review of reviewable decisions and extension of time decisions

Section 91

- (c) the claimant failed to comply with the notice; and
- (d) at the time when the employer determined the claim, it did not have the relevant information and the relevant information was not reasonably available to the employer; and
- (e) after the claim was determined, the claimant disclosed the relevant information to the employer or to the AAT; and
- (f) the employer reconsidered the original determination under subsection 78(1) and made a determination more favourable to the claimant than the original determination; and
- (g) the employer is satisfied that, if it had had the relevant information at the time when the original determination was made, it would have made a determination more favourable to the claimant than the original determination; and
- (h) the employer would be liable under subsection (2), to reimburse the claimant for costs reasonably incurred by the claimant;

the employer may make a declaration in writing that subsection (2) does not apply to those costs.

(4) If:

- (a) an employer has determined a claim (*original determination*); and
- (b) the employer, before making the original determination, gave the claimant a notice under section 67 or 83 requesting the claimant to give the employer, or to give the employer a copy of, a document (the *relevant document*) referred to in the notice or an authority to obtain, or to obtain a copy of, the relevant document; and
- (c) the claimant failed to comply with the notice; and
- (d) at the time when the employer determined the claim, it did not have the information contained in the relevant document and that information was not reasonably available to that employer; and
- (e) after the claim was determined, the claimant gave the document, or a copy of the document, or the information

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

106

Compilation date: 26/5/15

- contained in the relevant document, to the employer or to the AAT; and
- (f) the employer reconsidered the original determination under subsection 78(1), and made a determination more favourable to the claimant than the original determination; and
- (g) the employer is satisfied that, if it had had the information contained in the relevant document at the time when the original determination was made, it would have made a determination more favourable to the claimant than the original determination; and
- (h) the employer would be liable, under subsection (2), to reimburse the claimant for costs reasonably incurred by the claimant;

the employer may make a declaration, in writing, that subsection (2) does not apply in relation to those costs.

- (5) An employer must give a copy of a declaration made by it under subsection (3) or (4) to the claimant.
- (6) Application may be made to the AAT for a review of a decision by an employer to make a declaration under subsection (3) or (4).

92 Costs of proceedings before AAT—when costs payable by employer

- (1) If, in any proceedings instituted by the claimant, the AAT makes a decision:
 - (a) varying a reviewable decision in a manner favourable to the claimant; or
 - (b) setting aside a reviewable decision and making a decision in substitution for the reviewable decision that is more favourable to the claimant than the reviewable decision;

the AAT may, subject to this section, order that the costs of those proceedings incurred by the claimant, or a part of those costs, are to be paid by the employer.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

107

Part 6 Reconsideration of determinations and review of decisions by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal

Division 3 AAT review of reviewable decisions and extension of time decisions

Section 92

- (2) If the AAT gives a decision setting aside a reviewable decision and remitting the case for re-determination by the employer, the AAT must, subject to this section, order that costs of the proceedings before it incurred by the claimant are to be paid by the employer.
- (3) Neither subsection (1) nor (2) authorises the AAT to order an employer to pay any costs incurred by a claimant in relation to an application for an extension of time for applying to the AAT for a review of a reviewable decision.
- (4) If, in any proceedings, the AAT varies or sets aside a reviewable decision, the AAT must not make an order under subsection (1) or(2) in favour of a claimant in relation to the costs of those proceedings if:
 - (a) the employer, before making the reviewable decision, gave the claimant a notice under section 67 or 83 requesting the claimant to give the employer the information (the *relevant information*) referred to in the notice or an authority to obtain the relevant information; and
 - (b) the AAT is satisfied that:
 - (i) the claimant failed to comply with that notice; and
 - (ii) at the time when the employer made the reviewable decision, it did not have the relevant information, and the relevant information was not reasonably available to it; and
 - (iii) if the employer had had the relevant information at the time when it made the reviewable decision, it would have made a decision more favourable to the claimant than the reviewable decision.
- (5) If, in any proceedings, the AAT varies or sets aside a reviewable decision, the AAT must not make an order under subsection (1) or (2) in favour of a claimant in relation to the costs of those proceedings if:
 - (a) the employer, before making the reviewable decision, gave the claimant a notice under section 67 or 83 requesting the claimant to give the employer, or to give the employer a copy of, a document (the *relevant document*) referred to in the

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

108

Section 92

notice or an authority to obtain, or to obtain a copy of, the relevant document; and

- (b) the AAT is satisfied that:
 - (i) the claimant failed to comply with the notice; and
 - (ii) at the time when the employer made the reviewable decision, it did not have the information contained in the relevant document, and that information was not reasonably available to it; and
 - (iii) if the employer had had the information contained in the relevant document at the time when it made the reviewable decision it would have made a decision more favourable to the claimant than the reviewable decision.
- (6) If the AAT orders an employer to pay costs incurred by a claimant, the AAT may, in the absence of agreement between the parties as to the amount of the costs, tax or settle the amount of costs or order that the costs be taxed by the Registrar, a District Registrar or a Deputy Registrar of the AAT.
- (7) For the purposes of section 69A of the AAT Act, an employer who is ordered by the AAT to pay costs incurred by a claimant is taken to be a party to the proceedings in which the order is made.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

109

110

Part 7—Compulsory insurance and the Fund

Division 1—Compulsory insurance

93 Compulsory insurance

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), an employer, other than the Fund, must on each day:
 - (a) have a policy of insurance or indemnity from an authorised insurer; or
 - (b) be a member of a protection and indemnity association that:
 - (i) is approved in writing by the Authority; and
 - (ii) is a member of the International Group of Protection and Indemnity Associations; or
 - (c) be a member of an employers' mutual indemnity association that is approved in writing by the Authority;

so that the employer is insured or indemnified for the full amount of the employer's liability under this Act to all employees employed by the employer.

Penalty: 50 penalty units.

- (1A) Subsection (1) is an offence of strict liability.
 - Note: For *strict liability*, see section 6.1 of the *Criminal Code*.
 - (2) A policy of insurance or indemnity, or the terms of membership of a protection and indemnity association or of an employers' mutual indemnity association, may require that an employer be liable in respect of an amount specified in the policy or terms of membership, as the case may be.
 - (3) An employer applying to an authorised insurer for the issue or renewal of a policy of insurance or indemnity against liability under this Act must give the insurer a full and correct statement of all salaries or wages paid to employees for the period relevant to working out the premium payable under the policy.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

(4) A policy of insurance or indemnity is not subject to stamp duty or any other tax under a law of a State or Territory.

94 Employer to give details of insurance or indemnity arrangements to Authority

- (1) An employer must give the Authority the name and address of the authorised insurer, the protection and indemnity association or the employers' mutual indemnity association within 14 days of:
 - (a) being issued with, or renewing, a policy of insurance or indemnity by or with an authorised insurer; or
 - (b) becoming a member of, or renewing membership of, a protection and indemnity association or an employers' mutual indemnity association;

for the purposes of section 93.

Penalty: 20 penalty units.

(2) Subsection (1) is an offence of strict liability.

Note: For *strict liability*, see section 6.1 of the *Criminal Code*.

95 Authority may require evidence from employer

The Authority may, by notice in writing, require an employer to provide within such reasonable time as is specified in the notice evidence of:

- (a) a policy of insurance or indemnity; or
- (b) membership of a protection and indemnity association or an employers' mutual indemnity association;

referred to in section 93.

Penalty: 20 penalty units.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

111

Division 2—The Fund

96 The Fund

The Minister may, by notice published in the *Gazette*, approve a trading corporation to be the Fund for the purposes of this Act if the Minister thinks that the following conditions are satisfied in relation to the trading corporation:

- (a) its participants represent not less than 80% of the seafarer berths on all prescribed ships;
- (b) it has the management and resources to:
 - (i) quickly process and determine claims for compensation under this Act; and
 - (ii) develop and manage rehabilitation plans under this Act;
- (c) subject to section 97, it has access to sufficient funds to enable the prompt settlement of all liabilities that might arise under this Act.

97 Fund to insure

- (1) The Fund must on each day have a policy of insurance or indemnity from an authorised insurer for any amount of the Fund's liability under this Act that exceeds the prescribed amount for a single event which results in an injury to one or more employees.
- (2) Before advising the Governor-General about the making of a regulation prescribing an amount for this section, the Minister must consult the Fund and such organisations which represent employers or employees as the Minister thinks appropriate.
- (3) A failure to consult as required by subsection (2) does not affect the validity of a regulation prescribing an amount for the purposes of this section.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

112

Compilation date: 26/5/15

98 Fund to provide Authority with financial information

(1) The Fund must give the Authority such financial information as the Authority determines in writing and at such times as the Authority determines.

Penalty: 20 penalty units.

(2) Subsection (1) is an offence of strict liability.

Note: For *strict liability*, see section 6.1 of the *Criminal Code*.

99 Minister may revoke approval under section 96

The Minister may revoke an approval under section 96:

- (a) on the application of the trading corporation approved to be the Fund under section 96; or
- (b) if the Minister thinks any of the conditions in section 96 are no longer satisfied; or
- (c) if the Minister is satisfied that the Fund has not complied with section 97; or
- (d) if the corporation ceases to be a trading corporation.

Division 3—Reserve function of Authority

100 Ministerial declaration

If the Minister:

- (a) has not approved a trading corporation to be the Fund under section 96 before the day on which this Part commences; or
- (b) has revoked the approval of a trading corporation under section 99;

the Minister may, by notice published in the *Gazette*, declare that the Authority is to have the Fund's functions, powers and obligations under this Act.

101 Effect of Ministerial declaration

If the Minister makes a declaration under section 100, subsections 4(2) and (3) and 89(4) and sections 71, 86 and 129 apply as if the references to the Fund were references to the Authority.

102 Authority to insure if declaration made under section 100

- (1) If a declaration is made under section 100, the Authority must:
 - (a) as soon as practicable after the making of the declaration obtain a policy of insurance or indemnity from an authorised insurer for any amount of the Authority's liability under this Act that exceeds \$1,000,000 for a single event which results in an injury to one or more employees; and
 - (b) have at all times after that time such a policy of insurance or indemnity.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

114

Part 8—Administration

Division 1—Seafarers Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Authority

103 Establishment

The Seafarers Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Authority is established.

104 Functions

Subject to this Act, the Authority has the following functions:

- (a) to monitor the operation of this Act;
- (b) to promote high operational standards of claims management and effective rehabilitation procedures by employers;
- (c) to co-operate with other bodies or persons with the aim of reducing the incidence of injuries to employees;
- (d) to publish material relating to the functions referred to in paragraphs (a), (b) and (c);
- (e) to formulate policies and strategies relating to the occupational health and safety of employees;
- (f) to accredit occupational health and safety training courses for the purposes of section 47 of the *Occupational Health and Safety (Maritime Industry) Act 1993*;
- (g) to advise the Minister about anything relating to the Authority's functions and powers and other matters relating to the compensation and rehabilitation of employees;
- (h) such other functions as are conferred on the Authority by this Act or any other Act.
- Note 1: Additional functions are conferred on the Authority by the Occupational Health and Safety (Maritime Industry) Act 1993.
- Note 2: Section 72A of the *Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988* imposes a duty on Comcare to assist the Authority in performing its functions and exercising its powers.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

115

105 Powers

The Authority has power to do all things necessary or convenient to be done for, or in connection with, the performance of its functions.

106 Power to obtain information

- (1) Without limiting the generality of section 105, the Authority may, by notice in writing, require an employer to give the Authority, within such reasonable period as is specified in the notice, such documents or information (or both) as are specified in the notice, being documents or information in the possession or control of the employer that are relevant to the compilation of statistics for injury prevention purposes.
- (2) Without limiting the generality of section 105, if a declaration is made under section 100 the Authority may, by notice in writing, require an employer to give the Authority, within such reasonable period as is specified in the notice, such documents or information (or both) as are specified in the notice, being documents or information in the possession or control of the employer that are relevant to a claim made by, or in relation to, an employee of the employer.
- (3) An employer must not fail to comply with a request made under subsection (1) or (2).

Penalty: 20 penalty units.

- (4) Subsection (3) is an offence of strict liability.
 - Note: For *strict liability*, see section 6.1 of the *Criminal Code*.
- (5) Subsection (3) does not apply if the person has a reasonable excuse.

Note: A defendant bears an evidential burden in relation to the matter in subsection (5) (see subsection 13.3(3) of the *Criminal Code*).

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

116

107 Directions by Minister

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), the Minister may, by notice in writing given to the Chairperson, give a direction to the Authority with respect to the performance of its functions or the exercise of its powers.
- (2) The Minister is not to give a direction under subsection (1) in relation to a particular case.
- (3) The Authority must comply with a direction given under subsection (1).

117

Division 2—Constitution and meetings of Authority

109 Constitution

The Authority comprises the following members:

- (a) a Chairperson;
- (b) a Deputy Chairperson;
- (c) 2 members representing employers;
- (d) 2 members representing employees;
- (e) the Chief Executive Officer of the Australian Maritime Safety Authority.

110 Appointment of members

- (1) The members referred to in paragraphs 109(a), (b), (c) and (d) are to be appointed by the Minister.
- (2) The members referred to in paragraph 109(c) are to be appointed on the nomination of an organisation or organisations that the Minister is satisfied represents the interests of employers.
- (3) The members referred to in paragraph 109(d) are to be appointed on the nomination of an organisation or organisations that the Minister is satisfied represents the interests of employees.
- (4) A member is to hold office on a part-time basis.

111 Term of office

118

- (1) The Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson are to hold office, subject to this Act, for such term, not exceeding 5 years, as is specified in the instrument of appointment, but are eligible for re-appointment.
- (2) An appointed member other than the Chairperson or Deputy Chairperson is to hold office, subject to this Act, for such term, not

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

exceeding 3 years, as is specified in the instrument of appointment, but is eligible for re-appointment.

112 Deputies of members

- (1) A member referred to in paragraph 109(c) or (d) may, with the approval of the Minister, appoint a person to be the deputy of that member.
- (1A) The member referred to in paragraph 109(e) may appoint a person who is an officer or employee of the Australian Maritime Safety Authority to be his or her deputy.
 - (2) A member referred to in paragraph 109(c) or (d) may revoke the appointment of his or her deputy but the revocation is not effective until the member has given written notice of the revocation to the Minister.
- (2A) The member referred to in paragraph 109(e) may revoke the appointment of his or her deputy.
 - (3) A deputy is entitled, in the absence of the member who appointed him or her from a meeting of the Authority, to attend that meeting and, when so attending, is taken to be a member.
 - (4) A deputy may resign the office of deputy by delivering to the member who appointed him or her a signed notice of resignation.
 - (5) Anything done by or in relation to a deputy purporting to act under this section is not invalid merely because:
 - (a) there was a defect or irregularity in connection with the appointment; or
 - (b) the appointment had ceased to have effect; or
 - (c) the occasion for the deputy to act had not arisen or had ceased.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

119

Compilation No. 25 Compilation date: 26/5/15

113 Persons acting as Chairperson or Deputy Chairperson

The Minister may appoint a person to act as the Chairperson or the Deputy Chairperson:

- (a) during a vacancy in the office of Chairperson or Deputy Chairperson, whether or not an appointment has previously been made to the office; or
- (b) during any period or during all periods when the Chairperson or the Deputy Chairperson is absent from duty or from Australia or is, for any other reason, unable to perform the duties of the office.

Note: For rules that apply to acting appointments, see section 33A of the *Acts Interpretation Act 1901*.

114 Remuneration and allowances

- (1) The Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson are to be paid such remuneration as is determined by the Remuneration Tribunal, but, if no such determination is in operation, the Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson are to be paid such remuneration as is prescribed.
- (2) A member and the deputy of a member are to be paid such allowances as are prescribed.
- (3) This section has effect subject to the *Remuneration Tribunal Act* 1973.

115 Leave of absence

- (1) The Minister may grant the Chairperson leave to be absent from a meeting or meetings of the Authority.
- (2) The Chairperson may grant another member leave to be absent from a meeting or meetings of the Authority.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

120

Compilation date: 26/5/15

116 Disclosure of interests

(1) A member who has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a matter being considered or about to be considered by the Authority must, as soon as possible after the relevant facts have come to his or her knowledge, disclose the nature of the interest at a meeting of the Authority.

Note: The Chairperson also has a duty to disclose interests under section 29 of the *Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013*.

- (2) A disclosure must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting of the Authority and the member must not, unless the Minister or the Authority otherwise determines:
 - (a) be present during any deliberation of the Authority with respect to that matter; or
 - (b) take part in any decision of the Authority with respect to that matter.
- (3) For the purpose of making a determination by the Authority under subsection (2) in relation to a member who has made a disclosure, a member who has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in the matter to which the disclosure relates must not:
 - (a) be present during any deliberation of the Authority for the purpose of making the determination; or
 - (b) take part in the making by the Authority of the determination.
- (4) In this section:

member includes a person who is acting in the office of a member.

117 Resignation

An appointed member may resign by delivering to the Minister a signed notice of resignation.

118 Termination of appointment

(1) The Minister may terminate an appointed member's appointment for misbehaviour or physical or mental incapacity.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

121

- (2) If an appointed member:
 - (a) becomes bankrupt, applies to take the benefit of any law for the relief of bankrupt or insolvent debtors, compounds with his or her creditors for their benefit or makes an assignment of his or her remuneration for their benefit; or
 - (b) contravenes section 116 without reasonable excuse; or
 - (c) is absent from 3 consecutive meetings of the Authority, except on leave of absence; or
 - (d) is a member referred to in paragraph 109(c) or (d) and the organisation that nominated the member requests, in writing, that the appointment be terminated;

the Minister may terminate the member's appointment.

Note:

The appointment of the Chairperson may also be terminated under section 30 of the *Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013* (which deals with terminating the appointment of an accountable authority, or a member of an accountable authority, for contravening general duties of officials).

119 Meetings

122

- (1) The Authority must meet as often as is necessary for the efficient performance of its functions but must meet at least once in the period of 3 months beginning on the day on which the Authority is established and at least once in each successive period of 3 months.
- (2) A member may convene a meeting of the Authority.
- (3) At a meeting of the Authority:
 - (a) the quorum is formed by at least 3 members; and
 - (b) the following members must be present:
 - (i) at least one member referred to in paragraph 109(a) or (b); and
 - (ii) at least one member referred to in paragraph 109(c); and
 - (iii) at least one member referred to in paragraph 109(d).
- (4) Questions arising at a meeting of the Authority must be determined by the majority of the votes of the members present and voting at the meeting.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

- (5) If the Authority so determines, a resolution is taken to have been passed at a meeting of the Authority if, without meeting, a majority of the members who would, if present at a meeting and entitled to vote on the resolution at that meeting, have formed a quorum indicate agreement with the resolution in accordance with a method determined by the Authority.
- (6) The Chairperson is to preside at all meetings of the Authority at which he or she is present.
- (7) If the Chairperson is not present at a meeting of the Authority, the Deputy Chairperson is to preside at the meeting.
- (9) The member presiding at a meeting of the Authority has a deliberative vote and, if necessary, also has a casting vote.
- (10) Subject to this section, the Authority may determine the procedure to be followed at its meetings.

Division 4—Miscellaneous

125 Delegation by Authority and sub-delegation

Delegation by Authority

- (1) The Authority may, by resolution, delegate all or any of the Authority's functions and powers to the Chief Executive Officer of Comcare.
- (2) A delegation under subsection (1):
 - (a) continues in force in spite of a change in the membership of the Authority; and
 - (b) may be varied or revoked by resolution of the Authority (whether or not constituted by the persons constituting the Authority at the time when the power or function was delegated).
- (3) A certificate signed by the Chairperson stating any matter with respect to a delegation of a power or function under subsection (1) is *prima facie* evidence of that matter.
- (4) A document purporting to be a certificate under subsection (3) is, unless the contrary is established, taken to be a certificate and to have been duly signed.

Subdelegation by CEO of Comcare

- (5) Despite paragraph 34AB(1)(b) of the *Acts Interpretation Act 1901*, the Chief Executive Officer of Comcare may, by signed writing, delegate all or any of the functions and powers delegated under subsection (1) to:
 - (a) the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Comcare; or
 - (b) a member of Comcare's staff.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

124

Part 9—Miscellaneous

126 Employee to give information about prior employers

- (1) An employer who has been given a claim under section 63 may, by written notice given to the claimant, ask the claimant to give the employer:
 - (a) any information, or a document or a copy of a document, that the employee has in his or her possession as to the name and the address of each employer by whom the employee was employed before the day on which the injury happened; or
 - (b) if the employee can obtain any information, or a document or a copy of a document, as to the name and address of each such employer—the information or the document or a copy of the document, or an authority to obtain the information or the document or a copy of the document.
- (2) If a claimant, without reasonable excuse, does not comply with a notice under subsection (1), the employer may refuse to deal with the claim until the claimant gives the employer the information or the document or a copy of the document, or an authority to obtain the information or the document or a copy of the document, referred to in the notice.

127 Determinations to be in writing

- (1) A determination under this Act must be in writing.
- (2) A determination is taken to be in writing if it is recorded with the use of a computer.

128 Shared liability

If:

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

125

Compilation No. 25

- (a) an injury suffered by an employee arises out of, or in the course of, the employee's employment with more than one employer; and
- (b) one of the employers has paid compensation to the employee in respect of the injury;

the employer who paid the compensation may, by an action in a court of competent jurisdiction, recover from the other employer or employers an amount equal to the compensation paid multiplied by the proportion of the contribution to the injury made by the employment of the other employer or employers.

129 Subrogation of rights of actual employer to Fund

- (1) If:
 - (a) the Fund has become the employer of an employee because of subsection 4(3); and
 - (b) the Fund has paid an amount of money in respect of an employee in accordance with this Act; and
 - (c) the actual employer of the employee had a policy of insurance or indemnity with an insurer under section 93;

then:

- (d) the Fund is subrogated to all of the actual employer's rights and remedies in relation to the policy of insurance or indemnity, as the case may be; and
- (e) the actual employer is not entitled to, and may not enforce payment of, the amount.
- (2) If:
 - (a) the Fund has become the employer of an employee because of subsection 4(3); and
 - (b) the Fund has paid an amount of money in respect of an employee in accordance with this Act; and
 - (c) the actual employer of the employee was a member of a protection and indemnity association under section 93;

then:

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

126

(d) the Fund is subrogated to all of the actual employer's rights and remedies in relation to the association.

130 Payment of compensation

(1) Subject to this section, an amount of compensation payable to a claimant under section 29, 39, 40 or 41, must be paid to the claimant within 30 days after the date of the determination of the amount.

Penalty: 10 penalty units.

(1A) Subsection (1) is an offence of strict liability.

Note: For *strict liability*, see section 6.1 of the *Criminal Code*.

- (2) If an amount of compensation is not paid to a claimant in accordance with subsection (1), interest is payable to the claimant on that amount in respect of the period beginning at the end of the period of 30 days referred to in that subsection and ending on the day the amount is paid.
- (3) Interest payable under subsection (2) must be paid at such rate as is from time to time specified by the Minister for the purposes of this section by legislative instrument.
- (4) This section does not apply if:
 - (a) an employer has been requested under Part 6 to reconsider a determination under section 78; or
 - (b) the Administrative Appeals Tribunal has been requested under Part 6 to review a determination under section 88.

131 Employee to notify other employers that compensation has been paid

(1) If an employer pays the full amount of compensation payable under this Act to an employee in respect of an injury the employee must notify all other employers against whom a claim was made that the employee has received compensation in respect of the injury.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

127

Section 132

Penalty: 5 penalty units.

(2) Subsection (1) is an offence of strict liability.

Note: For *strict liability*, see section 6.1 of the *Criminal Code*.

132 Recovery of compensation payments

If an amount of compensation is due and payable under this Act, the claimant may recover the amount from the employer as a debt.

133 Money paid for benefit of person

- (1) Any money payable under this Act to a person under a legal disability must be paid to, or in accordance with the directions of, the Authority for the benefit of the person and, when so paid, is taken to have been paid to the person.
- (2) If money is held by the Authority for the benefit of a person, the Authority must, subject to subsections (4) and (5), invest the money in any manner for the time being allowed for the investment of trust money by an Act, or by a State or Territory enactment.
- (3) Income resulting for an investment of money under subsection (2) is taken to form part of that money.
- (4) The Authority may pay any money held by it for the benefit of a person to, or in accordance with the directions of, the person or apply the money in such manner as it thinks fit, for the benefit of the person.
- (5) If money is held by the Authority for the benefit of a person under a legal disability, the Authority must, when the person stops being under a legal disability, pay the money to, or in accordance with the directions of, the person or, if the money has been invested, deal with the investments in accordance with the directions of the person.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

128

134 Provisions applicable on death of beneficiary

- (1) Subject to subsection (3), if:
 - (a) a determination is made that an amount of compensation is payable under this Act to a person; and
 - (b) the person dies before the amount is paid; the amount forms part of the person's estate.
- (2) Subject to subsection (4), if the Authority holds any money or investments for the benefit of a person under this Act and that person dies, that money or those investments form part of the person's estate.
- (3) If a person referred to in subsection (1) dies intestate and nobody is apparently entitled to claim the person's estate (including that amount of compensation):
 - (a) subsection (1) does not apply; and
 - (b) subject to subsection (5), the compensation will not be paid.
- (4) If a person referred to in subsection (2) dies intestate and nobody is apparently entitled to claim the person's estate (including that money or those investments):
 - (a) subsection (2) does not apply; and
 - (b) subject to subsection (5), the Authority must pay the money, or realise the investments and pay the proceeds of the realisation, as the case may be, to the Commonwealth.
- (5) Any provision of this section may be made inoperative, in a particular case, as a result of a decision made on a review of a determination under this Act.

135 Assignment, set-off or attachment of compensation

- (1) An assignment of any compensation payable under this Act is void as against the employer or the Authority.
- (2) Except as provided by this Act, an amount payable by an employee or a dependant of a deceased employee to an employer or the Fund must not be set off against the amount of any compensation

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

129

payable under this Act to the employee or for the benefit of the dependant.

(3) Except as provided by the *Child Support Act 1988* or by regulations under the *Family Law Act 1975*, compensation payable under this Act is not subject to attachment.

136 Recovery of overpayments

- (1) If:
 - (a) an amount of compensation under this Act has been paid to a person by an employer as a result of a false or misleading statement or representation, or in consequence of a failure to comply with a provision of this Act; or
 - (b) an amount of compensation that has been paid to a person by an employer under this Act should not have been paid; or
 - (c) a person is liable to pay an amount to an employer under this Act;

the amount concerned is recoverable from the person by the employer as a debt.

(2) If:

130

- (a) an amount is recoverable from a person under subsection (1); and
- (b) an amount is payable under this Act to, or for the benefit of, that person;

the recoverable amount may be deducted from the amount so payable.

137 Employees on compensation leave

Despite any other Act, or any award, an employee is not entitled to be granted any kind of leave with pay (other than maternity leave with pay) during, or in respect of, any period when the employee is or was on compensation leave, but long service leave entitlements continue to accrue in relation to the employee in accordance with the applicable industrial instrument or National Employment Standards.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

139 Compensation where State compensation payable

- (1) If State compensation is paid to, or for the benefit of, anyone for:
 - (a) an injury suffered by an employee or a deceased employee; or
 - (b) the loss of, or damage to, property used by an employee; the compensation payable under this Act to, or for the benefit of, that person for the injury, loss or damage is the amount (if any) worked out using the formula:

Unadjusted amount of State compensation – Amount of State compensation

where:

Unadjusted amount of compensation means the amount of compensation that would, apart from this subsection, be payable under this Act to, or for the benefit of, the person for the injury, loss or damage.

Amount of State compensation means the amount of State compensation paid to, or for the benefit of, the person.

- (2) If:
 - (a) an employer pays compensation under this Act to, or for the benefit of, anyone for an injury suffered by an employee, or a deceased employee, or for the loss of, or damage to, property used by the employee; and
 - (b) State compensation is later paid to, or for the benefit of, the same person for that injury, loss or damage;

the person is liable to pay to the employer an amount equal to:

- (c) the amount of the compensation paid under this Act; or
- (d) the amount of the State compensation; whichever is less.
- (3) If:
 - (a) a person (*the debtor*) is liable to pay an amount to a employer under this section; and

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

131

- (b) the employer, or anyone else, holds on behalf of the debtor:
 - (i) an amount of compensation payable under this Act for the benefit of the debtor; or
 - (ii) an amount of State compensation payable to the debtor; or
- (iii) investments acquired out of such compensation; the employer or other person must:
 - (c) deduct from the amount so held, or realise those investments so held and deduct from the proceeds of the realisation, an amount that is not more than the amount referred to in paragraph (a); and
 - (d) pay the amount so deducted to the employer.
- (4) The payment of an amount to an employer under subsection (3) is, to the extent of the amount paid, a discharge of:
 - (a) the liability of the debtor to the employer; and
 - (b) the liability of the other person to the debtor.
- (5) A reference in subsection (2) to compensation under this Act that was paid for the benefit of a person does not include a reference to compensation paid under subsection 29(5).
- (6) If the whole or part of the State compensation referred to in subsection (1) received by, or on behalf of, a person did not relate to an injury, loss or damage, for which compensation is payable under this Act, this section has effect in relation to that person as if the person had received, by way of State compensation, an amount equal to so much (if any) of the amount of compensation the person actually received as did relate to such an injury, loss or damage.
- (7) In this section:

specified law means a law of a State or a Territory that provides for the payment of compensation, other than workers' compensation, and is declared by the Minister, by legislative instrument, to be a specified law for the purposes of this section.

132 Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

State compensation means compensation recoverable under a specified law.

139A Exclusion of State laws relating to workers' compensation

This Act excludes the operation of any law of a State or Territory relating to workers' compensation in so far as that law purports to apply in relation to death of, or an injury suffered by, or loss of, or damage to, property used by, an employee if the death or injury, or the loss or damage, happens after the commencement of this section.

140 Notice of departure from Australia etc.

- (1) This section applies to a person to whom payments of compensation under section 31 are being made, and have been made for a period of 3 months or longer, by an employer.
- (2) If the person proposes to leave Australia (whether or not he or she intends to return), the person may give the employer a written notice:
 - (a) stating that the person proposes to leave Australia; and
 - (b) specifying the day on which the person proposes to leave.
- (3) If the person has left Australia (whether or not he or she proposes to return) without giving a notice under subsection (2), the person must, within 7 days after the day on which he or she left Australia, send the employer a written notice:
 - (a) stating that the person has left Australia; and
 - (b) specifying the day on which the person did so.

Penalty: 5 penalty units.

- (4) If the person is absent from Australia for longer than 3 months, the person must:
 - (a) within 7 days after the end of the period of 3 months starting on the day on which the person left Australia; and

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

133

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

Section 141

(b) within 7 days after the end of each successive period of 3 months (if any) that ends while the person is still absent from Australia:

give the employer, as the case requires, a written notice setting out particulars of the person's residential address on the day on which the notice is given.

Penalty: 5 penalty units.

(5) Subsections (3) and (4) are offences of strict liability.

Note: For *strict liability*, see section 6.1 of the *Criminal Code*.

141 Comcare may charge for officer's services provided to employer

- (1) Comcare may charge an employer the prescribed fee for the provision of a Comcare officer's services for the purposes of section 78.
- (2) The regulations may make provision for the recovery of such fees as are prescribed for the provision of a Comcare officer's services for the purposes of section 78.

143 Regulations

The Governor-General may make regulations, not inconsistent with this Act, prescribing all matters:

- (a) required or permitted by this Act to be prescribed; or
- (b) necessary or convenient to be prescribed for carrying out or giving effect to this Act.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

134

Endnote 1—About the endnotes

The endnotes provide information about this compilation and the compiled law.

The following endnotes are included in every compilation:

Endnote 1—About the endnotes

Endnote 2—Abbreviation key

Endnote 3—Legislation history

Endnote 4—Amendment history

Endnotes about misdescribed amendments and other matters are included in a compilation only as necessary.

Abbreviation key—Endnote 2

The abbreviation key sets out abbreviations that may be used in the endnotes.

Legislation history and amendment history—Endnotes 3 and 4

Amending laws are annotated in the legislation history and amendment history.

The legislation history in endnote 3 provides information about each law that has amended (or will amend) the compiled law. The information includes commencement details for amending laws and details of any application, saving or transitional provisions that are not included in this compilation.

The amendment history in endnote 4 provides information about amendments at the provision (generally section or equivalent) level. It also includes information about any provision of the compiled law that has been repealed in accordance with a provision of the law.

Misdescribed amendments

A misdescribed amendment is an amendment that does not accurately describe the amendment to be made. If, despite the misdescription, the amendment can be given effect as intended, the amendment is incorporated into the compiled law and the abbreviation "(md)" added to the details of the amendment included in the amendment history.

If a misdescribed amendment cannot be given effect as intended, the amendment is set out in the endnotes.

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

135

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

136

Endnote 2—Abbreviation key

Endnote 2—Abbreviation key

A = Act orig = original

ad = added or inserted par = paragraph(s)/subparagraph(s)

am = amended /sub-subparagraph(s)

amdt = amendment pres = present c = clause(s) prev = previous

C[x] = Compilation No. x (prev...) = previously

Ch = Chapter(s) Pt = Part(s)

disallowed = disallowed by Parliament reloc = relocated

Div = Division(s) renum = renumbered

exp = expires/expired or ceases/ceased to have rep = repealed rs = repealed and substituted

F = Federal Register of Legislative Instruments s = section(s)/subsection(s)

gaz = gazette Sch = Schedule(s)
LI = Legislative Instrument Sdiv = Subdivision(s)

LIA = Legislative Instruments Act 2003 SLI = Select Legislative Instrument

(md) = misdescribed amendment SR = Statutory Rules mod = modified/modification Sub-Ch = Sub-Chapter(s)

No. = Number(s) SubPt = Subpart(s)

o = order(s) <u>underlining</u> = whole or part not Ord = Ordinance commenced or to be commenced

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Endnote 3—Legislation history

Act	Number and year	Assent or FRLI registration	Commencement	Application, saving and transitional provisions
Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992	234, 1992	24 Dec 1992	s 1–3 and 103–125: 24 Dec 1992 (s 2(1)) Remainder: 24 June 1993 (s 2(3))	
Transport and Communications Legislation Amendment Act (No. 2) 1993	5, 1994	18 Jan 1994	s 7–9 and Sch (items 72–110, 113): 18 Jan 1994 (s 2(1)) Schedule (items 111, 112): 24 June 1993 (s 2(10))	s 7–9
as amended by				
Statute Law Revision Act 1996	43, 1996	25 Oct 1996	Sch 3 (item 123): 18 Jan 1994 (s 2(3))	_
Occupational Health and Safety (Maritime Industry) Consequential Amendments Act 1993	11, 1994	18 Jan 1994	21 Feb 1994 (s 2 and gaz 1994, No S48)	_
Transport Legislation Amendment Act (No. 3) 1995	174, 1995	16 Dec 1995	Sch 2: 1 July 1995 (s 2(2))	_
Workplace Relations and Other Legislation Amendment Act 1996	60, 1996	25 Nov 1996	Sch 19 (items 43, 44): 25 Nov 1996 (s 2(1))	

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

137

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

138

Endnote 3—Legislation history

Act	Number and year	Assent or FRLI registration	Commencement	Application, saving and transitional provisions
as amended by Workplace Relations and Other Legislation Amendment Act (No. 2) 1996	77, 1996	19 Oct 1996	Sch 3 (items 1, 2): 25 Nov 1996 (s 2(4))	_
Marine Personnel Legislation Amendment Act 1997	10, 1997	8 Mar 1997	Sch 1 (items 1–74, 76–98): 8 Mar 1997 (s 2(1)) Schedule 1 (item 75): 24 June 1993 (s 2(2)	Sch 1 (items 42, 47, 49, 53, 56, 58, 92, 95)
Assistance for Carers Legislation Amendment Act 1999	13, 1999	9 Apr 1999	Sch 2 (items 72, 73): 1 July 1999 (s 2(2))	Sch 2 (item 73)
A New Tax System (Family Assistance) (Consequential and Related Measures) Act (No. 2) 1999	83, 1999		Sch 11 (item 5): 1 July 2000 (s 2(10)(a))	_
Public Employment (Consequential and Transitional) Amendment Act 1999	146, 1999	11 Nov 1999	Sch 1 (item 808): 5 Dec 1999 (s 2(1), (2) and gaz 1999, No S584)	_
General Insurance Reform Act 2001	119, 2001	19 Sept 2001	Sch 3 (item 15): 1 July 2002 (s 2(2))	_
Employment, Workplace Relations and Small Business Legislation Amendment (Application of Criminal Code) Act 2001	142, 2001	1 Oct 2001	s 4 and Sch 1 (items 119–132): 2 Oct 2001 (s 2(1))	s 4

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Endnote 3—Legislation history

Act	Number and year	Assent or FRLI registration	Commencement	Application, saving and transitional provisions
Workplace Relations Legislation Amendment Act 2002	127, 2002	11 Dec 2002	Sch 1 (items 4–8, 17): 11 June 2003 (s 2(1) item 5)	Sch 1 (item 17)
Administrative Appeals Tribunal Amendment Act 2005	38, 2005	1 Apr 2005	Sch 1 (item 232): 16 May 2005 (s 2(1) item 6)	_
Superannuation Legislation Amendment (Simplification) Act 2007	15, 2007	15 Mar 2007	Sch 1 (items 284– 286, 406(1)–(3)): 15 Mar 2007 (s 2(1) item 2)	Sch 1 (item 406(1)–(3))
Same-Sex Relationships (Equal Treatment in Commonwealth Laws— General Law Reform) Act 2008	144, 2008	9 Dec 2008	Schedule 5 (items 27–39): 10 Dec 2008 (s 2(1) item 12)	Sch 5 (item 39)
Employment and Workplace Relations Amendment Act 2009	37, 2009	3 June 2009	Sch 1 (items 8–13): 4 June 2009 (s 2(1) item 2B)	Sch 1 (items 12, 13)
Fair Work (State Referral and Consequential and Other Amendments) Act 2009	54, 2009	25 June 2009	Sch 8 (items 111– 125): 1 July 2009 (s 2(1) item 24)	Sch 8 (item 162)

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

139

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

Endnote 3—Legislation history

Act	Number and year	Assent or FRLI registration	Commencement	Application, saving and transitional provisions
as amended by				
Fair Work (State Referral and Consequential and Other Amendments) Regulations 2009	SLI 2009 No. 165	30 June 2009 (F2009L02568)	Sch 2 (item 7): 1 July 2009 (r 2)	_
as amended by				
Fair Work Legislation Amendment Regulations 2009 (No. 2)	SLI 2009 No. 364	16 Dec 2009 (F2009L04520)	Sch 1: 1 July 2009 (r 2(a))	_
Acts Interpretation Amendment Act 2011	46, 2011	27 June 2011	Sch 2 (items 1030– 1033) and Sch 3 (items 10, 11): 27 Dec 2011 (s 2(1) items 7, 12)	Sch 3 (items 10, 11)
Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation and Other Legislation Amendment Act 2011	181, 2011	6 Dec 2011	Sch 3: 7 Dec 2011 (s 2)	_
Coastal Trading (Revitalising Australian Shipping) (Consequential Amendments) and Transitional Provisions) Act 2012	56, 2012	21 June 2012	Sch 1 (items 15–21): 1 July 2010 (s 2(1) item 2)	_
Navigation (Consequential Amendments) Act 2012	129, 2012	13 Sept 2012	Sch 2 (items 78–85): 1 July 2013 (s 2(1) item 2)	Sch 2 (item 85)

140 Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Endnote 3—Legislation history

Act	Number and year	Assent or FRLI registration	Commencement	Application, saving and transitional provisions
Public Governance, Performance and Accountability (Consequential and Transitional Provisions) Act 2014	62, 2014	30 June 2014	Sch 12 (items 113– 115) and Sch 14 (items 1–4): 1 July 2014 (s 2(1) items 6, 14)	Sch 14 (items 1–4)
Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation and Other Legislation Amendment Act 2015	51, 2015	26 May 2015	Sch 1 (items 1, 3–6): 24 June 1993 (s 2(1) item 2) Sch 1A (items 1–3): 27 May 2015 (s 2(1) item 3A) Sch 2: 26 May 2015 (s 2(1) item 4)	Sch 1 (items 5, 6), Sch 1A (item 3) and Sch 2 (item 5)

Number and year	FRLI registration or gazettal	Commencement	Application, saving and transitional provisions
2006 No. 50	17 Mar 2006	Sch 11: 27 Mar 2006	_
	(F2006L00820)	(r 2(b))	

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

141

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

Endnote 4—Amendment history

Endnote 4—Amendment history

Provision affected	How affected
Part 1	
Division 2	
s 3	am No 5, 1994; No 11, 1994; No 60, 1996; No 10, 1997; No 119, 2001; SLI 2006 No 50; No 144, 2008; No 54, 2009; No 56, 2012; No 129, 2012; No 51, 2015
s 3A	ad No 129, 2012
s 4	am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 51, 2015
s 5	am No 10, 1997
s 9	am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997
s 10	am No 181, 2011
s 13	am No 5, 1994; SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009
s 15	am No 13, 1999; No 83, 1999; No 144, 2008
s 16	rs No 144, 2008
Division 3	
s 19	am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 56, 2012; No 129, 2012; No 51, 2015 (Sch 1A item 1)
s 19A	ad No 51, 2015
	rep <u>No 51, 2015</u>
s 20	am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997
s 20A	ad No 10, 1997
	am No 51, 2015
s 21A	ad No 142, 2001
s 23	am No 10, 1997; No 37, 2009
s 23A	ad No 37, 2009
Part 2	
Division 1	
s 28	am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011
Division 2	
s 29	am No 5, 1994; No 37, 2009

142 Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

s 30 am No 5, 1994 Division 3 s 31 am No 10, 1997; SL1 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009; No 129, 2012 s 32 am No 15, 2007 Division 4 s 39 am No 5, 1994 s 42 am No 181, 2011 Division 5 s 43 am No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 3 s 48 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997 s 49 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 53 am No 10, 1997 s 56 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 58 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 s 65 rs No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 10, 1997 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	Provision affected	How affected
s 31 am No 10, 1997; SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009; No 129, 2012 s 32 am No 10, 1997 s 34 am No 15, 2007 Division 4 s 39 am No 181, 2011 Division 5 s 43 am No 144, 2008 Division 6 s 44 am No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 3 s 48 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997 s 49 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 50 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 55 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 58 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 67 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	s 30	am No 5, 1994
s 32 am No 10, 1997 s 34 am No 15, 2007 Division 4 s 39 am No 5, 1994 s 42 am No 181, 2011 Division 5 s 43 am No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 3 s 44 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997 s 49 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 53 am No 10, 1997 s 56 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 58 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 15, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 s 65 rs No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	Division 3	
Division 4 s 39 am No 5, 1994 s 42 am No 181, 2011 Division 5 s 43 am No 144, 2008 Division 6 s 44 am No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 3 s 48 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 50 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 53 am No 10, 1997 s 56 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 58 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 s 65 rs No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 67 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 10, 1997 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	s 31	am No 10, 1997; SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009; No 129, 2012
Division 4 s 39 am No 5, 1994 s 42 am No 181, 2011 Division 5 am No 144, 2008 Division 6 44 s 44 am No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 3 48 s 49 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 50 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 53 s 53 am No 10, 1997 s 56 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 58 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 s 65 s 65 rs No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 67 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 142, 2001 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	s 32	am No 10, 1997
s 39	s 34	am No 15, 2007
s 42 am No 181, 2011 Division 5 am No 144, 2008 Division 6 am No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 44 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997 s 48 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 50 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 53 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 58 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 s 65 s 66 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 67 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 142, 2001 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	Division 4	
Division 5 s 43 am No 144, 2008 Division 6 am No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 44 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997 s 48 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 50 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 53 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 58 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 s 65 s 66 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 10, 1997 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	s 39	am No 5, 1994
Bivision 6 s 44 am No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 3 s 48 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997 s 49 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 50 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 53 am No 10, 1997 s 56 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 s 65 rs No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 10, 1997 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	s 42	am No 181, 2011
Division 6 s 44 am No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 3 s 48 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997 s 49 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 50 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 53 am No 10, 1997 s 56 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 58 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 s 65 rs No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 67 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 10, 1997 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	Division 5	
s 44 am No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 3 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997 s 49 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 50 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 53 s 56 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 s 65 s 66 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 67 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 142, 2001 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	s 43	am No 144, 2008
Part 3 s 48 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997 s 49 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 50 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 53 am No 10, 1997 s 56 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 58 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 s 65 s 65 rs No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 67 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 142, 2001 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	Division 6	
s 48 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997 s 49 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 50 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 53 am No 10, 1997 s 56 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 58 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 rs No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 67 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 142, 2001 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	s 44	am No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011
am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 50 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 53 am No 10, 1997 s 56 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 58 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 s 65 rs No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 67 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 142, 2001 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	Part 3	
am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 Part 4 s 53 am No 10, 1997 s 56 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 58 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 s 65 rs No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 67 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 142, 2001 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	s 48	am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997
Part 4 s 53 am No 10, 1997 s 56 am No 142, 2001 s 57 am No 142, 2001 s 58 am No 142, 2001 s 59 am No 5, 1994 s 61 am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009 Part 5 rs No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 67 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 142, 2001 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	s 49	am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011
s 53	s 50	am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011
s 56	Part 4	
s 57	s 53	am No 10, 1997
s 58	s 56	am No 142, 2001
s 59	s 57	am No 142, 2001
s 61	s 58	am No 142, 2001
Part 5 s 65 rs No 5, 1994 s 66 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 67 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 142, 2001 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	s 59	am No 5, 1994
s 65	s 61	am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009
s 66 am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011 s 67 am No 10, 1997 s 68 am No 142, 2001 s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	Part 5	
s 67	s 65	rs No 5, 1994
s 68	s 66	am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 181, 2011
s 71 am No 10, 1997 s 72 rs No 10, 1997	s 67	am No 10, 1997
s 72 rs No 10, 1997	s 68	am No 142, 2001
,	s 71	am No 10, 1997
s 73 rs No 10, 1997	s 72	rs No 10, 1997
	s 73	rs No 10, 1997

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

143

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

144

Endnote 4—Amendment history

Provision affected	How affected
s 73A	ad No 10, 1997
s 74	am No 10, 1997
Part 6	
Division 1	
s 76	am No 10, 1997
Division 2	
s 78	am No 60, 1996; SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009
s 79	rs No 10, 1997
s 80	am No 10, 1997
s 83	am No 10, 1997
s 83A	ad No 10, 1997
	am No 181, 2011
s 86	am No 10, 1997
Division 3	
s 89	am No 38, 2005
s 90	am No 10, 1997
s 91	am No 10, 1997
s 92	am No 10, 1997
Part 7	
Division 1	
s 93	am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997; No 142, 2001
s 94	am No 10, 1997; No 142, 2001
s 95	am No 10, 1997
Division 2	
s 97	am No 5, 1994
s 98	am No 142, 2001
Division 3	
s 102	am No 10, 1997
Part 8	
Part 8 heading	am No 174, 1995
Division 1	

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Division 1 heading
s 104
s 106
Division 2 s 108 rep No 174, 1995
s 108 rep No 174, 1995
•
s 109 am No 11, 1994
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
s 110 am No 10, 1997
s 111 am No 10, 1997
s 112 am No 11, 1994; No 10, 1997
s 113 am No 46, 2011
s 115 am No 10, 1997
s 116 am No 62, 2014
s 117 am No 10, 1997
s 118 am No 10, 1997; No 62, 2014
s 119 am No 5, 1994
Division 3 rep No 174, 1995
s 120 rep No 174, 1995
s 121 rep No 174, 1995
s 122 rep No 174, 1995
s 123 rep No 174, 1995
s 124 rep No 174, 1995
Division 4
s 125 am No 146, 1999; No 127, 2002; No 46, 2011
s 125A ad No 174, 1995
rep No 62, 2014
Part 9
s 126 am No 10, 1997
s 129 am No 5, 1994
s 130 am No 5, 1994; No 142, 2001; No 181, 2011
s 131 am No 142, 2001

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

145

Registered: 29/5/15

Compilation No. 25

Endnote 4—Amendment history

Provision affected	How affected
s 135	am No 181, 2011
s 137	am SLI 2006 No 50; No 54, 2009
s 138	rep No 10, 1997
s 139	am No 181, 2011
s 139A	ad No 10, 1997
s 140	am No 10, 1997; No 142, 2001
s 142	am No 5, 1994; No 10, 1997
	rep No 181, 2011

Seafarers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1992

Compilation No. 25

146